
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety, Environment 
and Residents Services Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 29 January 2018  
7.00 pm 

Small Hall - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Larry Culhane (Chair) 
Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor Sharon Holder 
 

Councillor Charlie Dewhirst 
Councillor Steve Hamilton 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill  
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
Public Notice 

Members of the press and public are welcome to attend this and all other Council 
meetings. 
 

The open part of this agenda is available on the Council’s website 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 

A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the 
building. 
 

Date Issued: 19 January 2018 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Community Safety, Environment and Residents 
Services Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

29 January 2018 
 

Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 6 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2017. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 More information about declarations can be found on the next page. 
 

 

4.   2018 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  7 - 26 

 This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by 
this Committee. 
 

 

5.   CYCLE SUPER HIGHWAY 9  27 - 30 

 This report sets out the Council’s response to the TfL consultation on 
CS9. This item gives the Committee and residents the opportunity to 
discuss the proposed scheme and put forward any areas of concern or 
suggestions for how the scheme could be improved. 
 

 

6.   A DRAFT CONSULTATIVE REPORT ON H&F COUNCIL'S 
EMERGENCY RESPONSE TO MAJOR INCIDENTS IN JUNE AND 
SEPTEMBER 2017  

31 - 79 

 In 2017 there were two major incidents in and around Hammersmith & 
Fulham that required the authority to implement its emergency planning 
procedures – the fire at Grenfell Tower and an explosion on a tube train 
in Parsons Green. 
 
This report reviews the Council’s response at both strategic and 
operational levels, identifies action taken to date to improve readiness 
and makes recommendations for further improvements.  
 

 

7.   HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE  80 - 83 

 This report sets out the statutory duties and requirements that the 
performs to ensure that the highway network is in a safe and reliable 
condition. 
 

 

8.   WORK PROGRAMME AND DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  84 

 The next meeting is scheduled to be held on 7 March 2018. 
 

 

 



 
More information about declarations of interest 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is entered in 
the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they consider should be 
declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a sensitive interest 
as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the interest at the commencement of the 
consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must then 
withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the Councillor 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under 
consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also withdraw from 
the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the matter would not be reasonable in 
the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect has 
been obtained from the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee. 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety, 
Environment and Residents 

Services Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 20 November 2017 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Larry Culhane (Chair), Iain Cassidy, 
Sharon Holder and Steve Hamilton 
 
Other Councillors: Cowan, Fennimore, Harcourt and Phibbs 
 
Officers: Nick Austin - Director for Environmental Health, Paul Baker - Lead 
Environmental Policy Officer, Richard Buckley - Head of Environmental Health 
(Residential) & Corporate Safety, Hashith Shah - Trading Standards Manager, 
Valerie Simpson - Head of Environmental Health (Licensing and Trading 
Standards), Peter Smith - Head of Policy and Strategy. 
 
Members of the Biodiversity Commission: Morag Carmichael (Commission 
Chair), John Goodier, Vanessa Hampton, Alex Laird, Cathy Maund and Moya 
O’Hara 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Resident Representative on the London Heliport 
Consultative Group: Christina Smyth 
 
 
16. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2017 be approved as 
an accurate record. 
 

17. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Charlie Dewhirst. 
 

18. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

19. REPORT OF THE HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM BIODIVERSITY 
COMMISSION  
 
Members of the Biodiversity Commission gave a presentation outlining the 
Commission’s work and the key findings and recommendations of their report.  
 
The Chair thanked the Commissioners for their report; he said that receiving 
the report was one of the highlights of his Chairmanship of the PAC as it was 
a very impressive piece of work and because it exemplified the success which 
could come from the Council’s policy of doing things with residents rather 
than to them.  
 
Councillor Hamilton said that he felt the Biodiversity Commission had been 
overly negative about the UK’s environmental policy after Brexit; he felt that 
the UK should be seeking to have better protection for the environment than 
current EU law gave it. He said that he was concerned about proposals that 
roads should be closed between parks and schools owing to the likely traffic 
impact, especially as those examples in his ward were private rather than 
state schools. Councillor Hamilton was also concerned that wildflower 
meadows were not introduced to the detriment of space for children to play in 
and also said that Astroturf might be appropriate in some cases to allow sport 
to be played all year round. He also said that the use of herbicides might be 
appropriate, for example, on pavements where the likelihood of their affecting 
other flora and fauna than weeds was low. Councillor Hamilton also said that 
he did not feel that the suggestion that advice on how to be greener should be 
sent out in a paper form, which was in itself not very environmentally friendly. 
 
Councillor Harcourt said that he was very impressed by the work of the 
Biodiversity Commission and said that he felt Councillor Hamilton had been 
overly negative about the report. He disagreed with Councillor Hamilton’s 
suggestion that the UK Government might deliver better protection for the 
environment than the EU, saying that he did not believe that it would be a 
priority for the Government. Councillor Harcourt said that it might well be 
possible to close some roads between schools and parks, noting that if a road 
passing a school was so heavily used that it could not be closed, it was likely 
to be a safety risk for pupils. He added that the body of scientific evidence 
against the use of herbicides and pesticides was significant and that the 
Council’s banning of Glysophate was the right thing to do. Councillor Harcourt 
said that it was the Council’s ambition to be the Greenest Borough and felt 
that the report gave many useful suggestions on ways in which this could be 
achieved. He also praised the work of the Commissioners and all of those 
who volunteered their time to make the borough a greener, more pleasant 
place to live, such as the friends of groups in parks.  
 
Morag Carmichael said that the report required only that the level of 
protection afforded by the EU be maintained; she would be very happy if the 
Government wished to extend these protections further, but the Commission 
had felt it useful to include the current protection as a baseline considering 
the uncertainty surrounding environmental policy. 
 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Phibbs said that he felt that the Commission ought to have also 
recommended that Thames Water cancel the Tideway project and instead 
spend the money on SuDS Schemes. He felt that the Council ought to do 
more to promote guerrilla gardening in tree pits and encourage children to 
grow food at school. He added that he felt that incentives could be introduced 
into the planning system for returning land to horticulture, for example, a more 
flexible approach being taken to a change to a building if an area of 
hardstanding were turned back to a lawn.  
 
Councillor Cassidy asked how the tension between some residents demands 
for tidy cemeteries and greater wilding of these could be managed. John 
Goodier explained that London’s oldest cemeteries had been planted with 
great biodiversity which had to some extent been lost over the years. He said 
that, by maintaining clear boundaries between wilder areas and highly 
maintained but less biodiverse areas, and by providing information about the 
environmental value of wilder areas, most residents could accept more 
unkempt areas in the cemeteries. He said that existing work at Margravine 
Cemetery proved this to work, especially where areas with no recent burials 
were chosen to be left to grow.  
 
Councillor Holder asked whether there was something which all residents 
could do to improve biodiversity. Morag Carmichael said that the best thing 
that residents could do would be to plant pollinators, even if they could only 
do so in a window box, it would make a big difference. It was noted that the 
internet held a wealth of information about what residents could do to improve 
biodiversity. 
 
The Chair asked whether the Commission had a vision for the ecology centre 
they proposed. Morag Carmichael said that the Royal Borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea had an Ecology Centre in Holland Park which provided a base 
for environmental education; the Commission wanted something similar for 
Hammersmith and Fulham.  
 
Members of the Commission thanked the officers who had supported them in 
their work and said that they had really enjoyed the process. 
 

20. HELICOPTER NOISE ISSUES  
 
Paul Baker gave a presentation outlining why helicopter noise was a problem 
in Hammersmith and Fulham, what noise controls existed to limit this and 
what the Council could do to reduce the impact on residents. 
 
The Chair thanked Mr Baker for his report and explained that the Council had 
appointed him as a member of the London Heliport Consultative Committee. 
He said that the Committee lacked any real power, and had previously been 
fairly unsuccessful, however, recently it had started to take a firmer line with 
the Heliport; this had resulted in the commissioning of a Helicopter noise 
survey. The survey was the first to be carried out in the history of the heliport, 
and the results were expected in December 2017. 
 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Christina Smyth said that there was an issue with the legislative regime being 
very light touch, with the impact of helicopter routing not being scrutinised 
adequately. She felt that the Mayor and the UK Government needed to be 
lobbied to get power devolved to London and to try to encourage dispersal of 
flights in built up areas. She also noted that the Heliport had been 
uncooperative and seemed focussed only on maximising profits rather than 
on ensuring that residents were not unacceptably affected by their operations.  
 
A resident asked who the main users of the heliport were. Councillor Culhane 
said that the main users were wealthy individuals going to and from London, 
but that helicopter tours of London were also increasing in popularity. There 
were peaks in usage on some event days where lots of people travelled by 
helicopter to events such as the British Grand Prix or Ladies Day at Royal 
Ascot. A resident asked whether high levels of tax were charged. Christina 
Smyth said that she would look into the level of tax associated with helicopter 
flights. 
 
A resident said that they had been very concerned by a significant increase in 
helicopter noise over the summer; he had been unable to find out why this 
was and feared that a flight path had been developed over his 
neighbourhood. He suggested that better information from the Heliport might 
ease residents’ concerns. Christina Smyth said that the Heliport made it 
deliberately difficult for residents to get information. 
 
A resident noted that most recent helicopter crashes had involved twin 
engined aircraft, which were currently allowed to fly away from approved safe 
routes; he said that he thought that this should be changed to ensure that a 
helicopter did not crash into residential areas of London.  
 
Councillor Phibbs asked whether the Mayor of London could do anything to 
improve the issues identified with helicopter flights. Paul Baker explained that 
the Mayor currently had no powers which could be used to control aviation, 
however, as it seemed appropriate for the issue to be dealt with regionally it 
had been suggested that the Mayor should lobby to get additional powers. 
 
Councillor Phibbs asked whether the 1,000 feet minimum height for helicopter 
flights could be enforced. Paul Baker said that the CAA could take action 
however it was difficult to do as lots of information was needed. The 
possibility of using RADAR to identify helicopters flying under 1,000 feet was 
discussed although it was not known if this was technically possible. 
Councillor Phibbs asked whether the minimum height could be raised and 
Paul Baker explained that the current limit had been introduced to bring the 
UK into line with the internationally recommended minimum and that shared 
aviation rules were desirable in their own right. 
 
Councillor Hamilton said that he was concerned that the Heliport could still 
increase its usage by 25-30%. He also said that the impact of routes should 
be considered as it was possible that these might cause some residents 
significant disruption, whereas point to point flights might cause a little 
disturbance to lots of people a little of the time. 
 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Hamilton asked whether there was any information on the 
percentage of complaints about helicopters which related to the operations of 
the heliport. Paul Baker said that it was not always possible to say what a 
complaint related to, as insufficient information was sometimes given by 
residents. He said, however, that the vast majority of complaints were about 
helicopters flying to and from the heliport. 
 
Councillor Hamilton asked whether there was anything that could be done to 
reduce the amount of noise made by each helicopter. Paul Baker said that the 
noise study might identify helicopters breaching the decibel limits set on each 
movement to and from the heliport which could allow enforcement action to 
be taken. 
 
Councillor Cassidy asked whether the psychological impact of helicopter 
noise had been considered. Paul Baker said that he wasn’t aware of a study 
of helicopter noise. 
 

21. LONDON TRADING STANDARDS WEEK  
 
Valerie Simpson explained that the mission statement of London Trading 
Standards week was ‘Protecting Consumers and Safeguarding Businesses’. 
The campaign had focussed on a different theme each day and Hashith Shah 
explained that these themes had been: Underage Sales of Knives, which had 
been broadened to include sales of corrosive substances, Lettings Agencies, 
Scams and Doorstep Sales, Support for Businesses, and Product Safety. 
Valerie Simpson said that the week had promoted the work of trading 
standards and had also been good for staff morale as they had enjoyed 
working with and learning from officers across London. She said that the 
service was trying to work more closely with businesses and was also trying 
to commercialise its advice service. 
 
Councillor Hamilton said that he felt that the Council needed to take a strong 
stand against the sale of Acid and Corrosive Substances. Valerie Simpson 
agreed that it was a very important emerging issue but noted that legislation 
made it difficult for the Council to do as much as it would like as it was not yet 
illegal for shops to sell corrosive substances to those under 18. 
 
Councillor Hamilton asked what the requirements were for businesses selling 
second hand electrical goods. Hashith Shah explained that goods should be 
tested by a competent person and a new plug should be fitted unless the 
product was expected to be permanently connected to fixed wiring.  
 
A resident asked how residents could contact the Trading Standards team. 
Valerie Simpson said that residents could call 020 8753 1081 or email 
trading.standards@lbhf.gov.uk. The Chair suggested that the team try to get 
their phone number changes to 020 8753 7226, meaning that the last 4 digits 
would be scam. 
 
Councillor Cassidy asked how the team dealt with online scams and fraud. 
Valerie Simpson said that it was very difficult to catch those committing these 
types of crimes, as they were often based abroad; there were national 

Page 5

mailto:trading.standards@lbhf.gov.uk


_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

agencies which did attempt this type of work but Council trading standards 
teams did not have the resources needed to investigate these offences. The 
Council instead focussed on educating residents so that they did not fall 
victim to online scams. Hashith Shah said that the Council was looking to 
develop a social media profile which could help them get information about 
scams out to residents quickly.  
 
Councillor Holder asked how many resident meetings the service attended. 
Valerie Simpson said that officers visited sheltered accommodation very 
regularly and also went to other meetings on request from residents. There 
was also a scheme called ‘Friends Against Scams’ which was intended to 
ensure that everyone knew someone who had been given training on 
avoiding scams and this helped to get the service’s education message out to 
the public. 
 
The Chair asked how the business community had responded to the London 
Trading Standards Week. Hashith Shah said that the response had generally 
been very positive, with businesses pleased that the Council was engaging 
with them, although some of those who had failed test purchases were 
unhappy at first. He explained that the Council gave advice to national 
companies, as a primary authority, and that these companies were generally 
very satisfied with what the Council did.  
 
Councillor Harcourt thanked officers for their report and their hard work both 
in London Trading Standards Week and throughout the year. 
 

22. WORK PROGRAMME AND DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
A resident noted that at previous meetings he had been assured that he 
would be given the Council’s reasoned position on self-funding litter patrols; 
he explained that whilst he had been sent a response, it did not explain why 
the Council had not taken up the suggestion of introducing patrols. Councillor 
Harcourt said that the issue had been discussed by officers and members of 
the Council’s Cabinet, but that there were fears that the Council would not 
have sufficient control over the actions of staff, especially if employed via a 
private contractor. He said that the Council continued to monitor the scheme 
in other areas and agreed to provide a full response to the resident. 
 
Councillor Hamilton asked that an item on the placing of litter bins be added 
to the work programme. 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.40 pm 

 
Chair   

 
Contact officer: Ainsley Gilbert 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 6



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
29 January 2018 

 

 

2018 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Max Schmid 

 
Report Status: Open 
 

Classification:  For review and comment. 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara 
 

Report Authors:  
Corporate Overview  
Andrew Lord – Head of Strategic Planning 
and Monitoring 
Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Finance Director 
Environmental Services 
Mark Jones – Director for Finance and 
Resources 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2501  
E-mail: hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 
Tel: 020 8753 6700  
E-mail: mark.jones@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 
1.1. Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to 

Budget Council on 21st February 2018. A balanced budget will be set in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

1.2. This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by this 
Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also provided on 
any changes in fees and charges.    
 

1.3. Government resource assumptions, that are used to calculate LBHF’s 
Government grant, model the council increasing council tax by 6% in 
2018/19. However, in line with the administration’s policy of lowering the 
cost of the council to residents, this increase has not been proposed. 
Instead, the budget proposes to freeze council tax for the year.  

 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. That the Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) considers the budget 
proposals and makes recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 
 

2.2. That the PAC considers the proposed changes to fees and charges and 
makes recommendations as appropriate.  
 

3. THE BUDGET GAP 
 

3.1. The 2018/19 budget gap, before savings, is £14.6m, rising to £55.1m by 
2021/22. The budget is based on several key assumptions regarding 
resources and expenditure. 
 
Table 1: Budget Gap Before Savings    

 

  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

  £’m £’m £’m £’m 

Base Budget 155.0 155.0 155.0 155.0 

Add:         

- Inflation (includes pay) 5.2 10.6 15.8 21.1 

- headroom 0.0 6.0 12.0 18.0 

- Growth 6.8 7.2 7.2 6.9 

Budgeted Expenditure 167.0 178.8 190.0 201.0 

Less:         

- Government Resources -10.1 -28.5 -25.4 -23.5 

- LBHF Resources -139.0 -115.3 -117.2 -119.1 

- Use of Developer 
Contributions 

-3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 

Budgeted Resources -152.4 -147.1 -145.9 -145.9 

          

Cumulative Budget Gap 
Before Savings 

14.6 31.7 44.1 55.1 

          

Risks 19.3 25.0 28.3 31.2 

 
Budget Assumptions 
 

3.2. A continued reduction in the general grant receivable by Hammersmith and 
Fulham from Central Government. Grant funding1 has been cut in each 
year since 2010/11. The total reduction since April 2010 to March 2018 has 
been £70m. In addition, there will be a further reduction in 2018/19 of 
£8.6m and further £5.2m cut is forecast by 2021/22.    
 

                                            
1
 After allowance for changes in funding between grant and business rates. 

Page 8



 
 

3.3. A Council Tax freeze is modelled with no use of the adult social care 
precept. Authorities can opt to levy a maximum adult social care precept of 
3% in 2018/19 and up to 6% by 2019/20. A 3% precept would raise £1.7m 
for LBHF. Central Government grant assumptions are based on LBHF 
raising council tax and the precept by a combined 6% per year to 2019/20. 
2018/19 is the third year of a four-year local government finance settlement 
that started in 2016/17. From 2016/17 to 20181/9 Government modelling 
has assumed an overall council tax increase of 13.3% of which 7% relates 
to use of the socal care precept. The administration, however, has a 
commitment to reduce the cost of the council to residents and will not be 
increasing tax.  

 
3.4. Business rates are modelled to increase with inflation with allowance 

made for an extra £2.2m from the opening of the Westfield extension in 
March 2018.  
 

3.5. London Local Government has been working to take forward a 100% 
business rates retention pilot for London from April 2018.  

 
3.6. The pilot will pool business rates across the 33 London Boroughs and 

Greater London Authority (GLA).   
 

3.7. Under such an arrangement London will keep 100% of any growth in 
business rates, though business rates valuations and levels would still be 
set by Government. Indicative modelling has suggested this may benefit 
Hammersmith and Fulham by £2.6m. In addition, £110m would be 
generated for a London wide investment pot. 
 

3.8. At present Hammersmith and Fulham retains 30% of the business rates it 
collects with the balance paid to the Government and GLA. Under the 
proposed pilot the share retained by Hammersmith and Fulham would 
increase to 67% with the balance going to the GLA. The Council would not 
initially benefit from the increased share as there would be compensating 
reductions (through grant cuts and payment of a tariff to Government). 
These adjustments are shown in Table 2. The benefit to Hammersmith and 
Fulham would be receiving a share of London’s future business rates 
growth. 

 
Table 2 – Changes to Funding Streams from the Business Rates Pilot 
 

  No-Pilot With Pilot 

Business Rates Baseline 77.9 157.8 

Tariff payable to the Government -18.8 -74.8 

Funding Baseline 59.1 83 

Revenue Support Grant 23.9 0 

Total LBHF Funding 83 83 

 
3.9. Table 2 sets out the sums assumed by the Government in the 2018 Local 

Government Finance Settlement. The current LBHF forecast, which will be 

Page 9



 
 

updated in January, for business rates income is £80.4m.  Under the pilot 
scheme there is a guarantee that no authority will be worse off than under 
the present scheme.    
 

3.10. The 100% business rates retention pool:  

 Is a pilot and may not continue after 2018/19. 

 Uses modelling based on an aggregation of high level estimates. 

 Will not confirm final income until October 2019 in relation to 2018/19 
 

3.11. Greater clarity, after each Borough updates their 2018/19 business rates 
forecast, on the potential benefits from the pilot 100% business rates 
retention pool will be available in mid-February.  No benefit is allowed for 
within the current LBHF resource forecast. Once confirmed the sum 
receivable will be added to Reserves.  
 

3.12. Property developments have placed increased pressure on council 
services in recent years.  
 

3.13. Section 106 agreements containing planning obligations are entered 
between developers and the Council as the Local Planning 
Authority.  Legislation controls the use of such obligations, including 
regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 which 
requires planning obligations to be: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

3.14. The Council has entered into a significant number of s106 
agreements.  Whilst S106 funds can only lawfully be applied in accordance 
with the terms of each specific agreement, as approved by the Planning 
Applications Committee, some approved funds are identified generally as 
being for expenditure on as yet unspecified “Social and Physical 
Infrastructure” or “Environmental Improvements” (although the agreements 
identify the types of projects/items the funds can be used for). 
 

3.15. Provided the Council respects the obligation to maintain a reasonable 
relationship with the developments and complies with the specific terms of 
each of the s106 agreements giving rise to the funds, the Council has a 
degree of flexibility and discretion as to how it spends some of these 
funds.  The council has analysed all its s106 agreements that may give a 
financial benefit to determine which should be relied upon for budgeting 
purposes and which have flexibility in how they may be applied.  As is 
usual in these circumstances many areas of Council activity that have 
faced increased demand following new developments offer a good fit with 
the purposes of some of the uncommitted s106 funds which can therefore 
be lawfully used to finance such activities.   
 

3.16. The Council currently has section 106 receipts of £50.1m in hand with 
agreements in place for the receipt of future financial obligations of 
£201m.  £72.4m of the future obligations are assessed as highly likely to 

Page 10



 
 

be received by the close of 2021/22. The total amount of flexible funding in-
hand, or highly likely to be received, is estimated to be a minimum of £72m 
by the close of 2021/22. 
 

3.17. The 2018/19 budget assumes that £3.3m (an additional £0.7m compared 
to previous years) of expenditure will be funded from section 106 resources 
with such funding on-going over the MTFS period. In addition, contributions 
of £1.7m per annum are assumed towards the provision of policing. 
 

3.18. Inflation. A pay award of 2% per annum is modelled compared to 1% in 
2017/18. Inflation has also been provided, on a case by case basis, to 
meet external contractual requirements. Inflationary pressures have 
increased in the wider economy with the August Retail Price Index showing 
an increase of 3.9% compared to 1.8% last year.  For 2018/19, the sum 
provided for overall inflation is £5.2m (£1.8m pay and £3.4m non-pay) 
compared to £2.9m in 2017/18. 
 

4. GROWTH, SAVINGS AND RISKS 
 
4.1. The growth and savings proposals for the services covered by this PAC are 

set out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out in Appendix 2.  
Growth 

 
4.2. Budget growth is summarised by Service Area in Table 3.  

 
Table 3: 2018/19 Growth Proposals 

  

Service Area £’m 

Adult Social Care 1.3 

Childrens Services 1.8 

Environmental Services 0.6 

Corporate Services 0.3 

Regeneration, Planning & Housing Services 1.4 

Centrally Managed Budgets 1.4 

Total Growth 6.8 

 
 Savings 

 
4.3. The Council faces a continuing financial challenge due to overall Central 

Government funding cuts, unfunded burdens, inflation, and growth 
pressures. The budget gap will increase in each of the next three years if 
no action is taken to reduce expenditure, generate more income through 
commercial revenue or continue to grow the number of businesses in the 
borough. 
 

4.4. To close the budget gap for 2018/19 savings (including additional income) 
of £15.4m are proposed (Table 4).  

 
  Table 4: 2018/19 Savings Proposals 

Page 11



 
 

 

Service Area £’m 

Adult Social Care (2.9) 

Children’s Services (2.1) 

Environmental Services (1.9) 

Library Services (0.1) 

Corporate Services (2.7) 

Public Health (2.0) 

Regeneration, Planning & Housing Services (0.2) 

Commercial and Cross-Cutting (3.5) 

Savings (15.4) 

 
4.5. The Council will receive Public Health Grant of £21.8m in 2018/19. The 

savings of £2m in existing services will enable investment in Council 
services that deliver public health outcomes.  
  

4.6. The saving proposals are categorised by savings area in Table 5. 
 

  Table 5: Categorisation of Savings and Additional Income 
 

 2017/18  
£’m 

2018/19 
£’m 

Business Intelligence (0.6) (0.4) 

Budget reduced in line with spend (0.3) (0.2) 

Commercialisation  (2.9) (3.4) 

Estate Rationalisation 0 (0.1) 

Income (0.3) (0.5) 

Outside investment secured  (0.2) (0.1) 

Prevention (0.6) (1.6) 

Procurement / Commissioning (5.0) (5.1) 

Service reconfiguration (2.7) (3.1) 

Staffing / Productivity (2.2) (0.9) 

Total All Savings (15.0) (15.4) 

 
Budget Risk and Reserves 
 

4.7. The Council’s budget requirement for 2018/19 is £152.4m. Within a budget 
of this magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty 
particularly within the current challenging financial environment. The key 
financial risks that face the Council have been identified and quantified. 
They total £19.5m. Financial risks of £20.6m were identified when the 
2017/18 Budget was set. 

 
4.8. The level of balances and reserves are examined each year in light of the 

risks facing the Authority in the medium term. The latest position is set out 
in Table 6. 
 

Page 12



 
 

4.9. The Council has used reserves to fund investment in transformation and 
efficiency and other significant one-off costs pressures. Examples in 
2016/17 included investments in ICT, Invest to Save schemes such as LED 
street-lighting and mitigating the impact of the Managed Services project. 
 

4.10. The 2018/19 base budget includes planned contributions of £0.75m to the 
Efficiency Projects Reserve and £0.8m to the IT Enablers Reserve. In 
addition, the proposed savings for 2018/19 (£15.4m) currently exceed the 
budget gap (£14.8m). This will enable a further contribution to Reserves of 
£0.6m.  The sum due from the London 100% Business Rates retention 
pilot (estimated at £2.6m) will also be put to Reserves. In total, the 
estimated contribution to Reserves for 2018/19 is £4.75m. Uses of 
Reserves in 2018/19 will include taking forward the Integrated Family 
Support Service, taking forward new arrangements for the outsourced 
managed services programme and funding the Landlord Incentive scheme 
to support the provision of temporary accommodation. 
 

Table 6 – General Fund Balances and Earmarked Reserves 
 

 31/03/14 
actual 

31/03/15 
actual 

31/0316 
actual 

31/03/17 
actual 

31/03/18 
forecast 

 £’m £’m £’m £’m £’m 

General Balances 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

81.6 89.5 90.0 82.7 75.0 

 100.6 108.5 109.0 101.7 94.0 

 
5. FEES AND CHARGES 

 
5.1. The budget strategy assumes: 

 

 Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Market, Parking, Libraries and 

Housing charges frozen 

 A standard uplift of 3.9% based on the August Retail Price index for other 

charges 

 Case by case review for commercial services that are charged on a for-
profit basis. These will be varied up and down in response to market 
conditions, with relevant Member approval.  

  
5.2. A number of charges are being frozen for 2018/19, as set out in Appendix 

3: 

 Parking charges, including residents permits, bay suspensions and 
pay and display charges 

 Community Safety, including stray dog fees (set in statute), 
Neighbourhood Warden patrols (main customer base is Registered 
Social Landlords), Antisocial behaviour investigations and camera 
hire (LBHF is new to the market and wishes to remain competitive), 

Page 13



 
 

and CCTV camera hire and footage analysis (new service being 
tested). 

 Registrars – a number of fees are set by statute and remain 
unchanged.  

 Transport service – the current charging methodology of cost plus 
mark up is competitive. 
 

 
5.3. The remaining fees and charges within the Environmental Services Group 

are proposed at a standard 3.9% inflationary uplift for 2018/19.  
 

 
6. 2018/19 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 

 
6.1. The administration proposes to freeze Hammersmith and Fulham’s 

element of 2018/19 Council Tax at £727.81. This will provide a balanced 
budget whilst recognising the burden on local taxpayers. 
 

6.2. The Mayor of London’s draft budget is currently out for consultation and is 
due to be presented to the London Assembly on 25th January 2018, with 
final confirmation of precepts on 22nd of February 
 

6.3. As part of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement the 
government announced that authorities can charge a 3% adult social care 
precept. Council does not wish to apply this tax to residents, so it does not 
form part of the 2018/19 budget proposals. 
 

6.4. Following last year’s council tax freeze, the current Band D Council Tax 
charge of £1,007.83 (LBHF element £727.81 and GLA £280.02) is the 3rd 
lowest in England. In cash terms, the Band D charge for the Hammersmith 
and Fulham element is at its lowest since it was £706.83 in 1999/2000. 

 
7. Comments of the Lead Director for Environmental Services on the 

Budget Proposals 
 

7.1. The Environmental Services Group (ESG) is proposing a total controllable 
expenditure budget of £64.0m for 2018/19, of which £59.9m is expected to 
be recovered through income. The total controllable net budget is therefore 
£4.1m. In addition to this, corporate charges and income, which are not 
controlled by the service group, total a net £19.9m. This is shown in table 
4, below.  
 

7.2. Savings proposals (including income and outside investment) totalling 
£1.9m are included in the proposed budget for 2018/19. These are also 
summarised in Table 7 (and detailed in Appendix 1). 
 
Table 7 – Environmental Services Budget 2018/19 

 

Directorate 
Expend- 

iture 
Income 

Net 
Budget 

Savings 
2018/19* 

Page 14



 
 

2018/19 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Transport & Highways and Parks & 
Leisure 

12,881 (9,047) 3,834 (306) 

Parking 10,005 (36,445) (26,450) (565) 

Building and Property Management 11,296 (5,670) 5,626 (430) 

Environmental Health, Community Safety 
& Emergency Services 

9,732 (6,482) 3,250 (168) 

Cleaner, Greener and Cultural Services 11,626 (4,762) 6,864 (201) 

Commercial Services 11,872 (482) 11,389 (164) 

Markets and Street Trading 482 (372) 110 0 

Executive Support and Finance 1,579 (596) 983 (30) 

Total Controllable Budgets 69,472 (63,865) 5,607 (1,863) 

Capital Charges 13,760 0 13,760 0 

Corporate & Departmental Overheads 11,651 (8,976) 2,676 0 

Total Corporately Managed Budgets 25,411 (8,976) 16,435 0 

Total Environmental Services Budgets 94,883 (73,140) 21,742 (1,863) 

* These savings are included in the budget figures in the table 

Transport & Highways and Parks & Leisure 
7.3. The Transport and Highways directorate is targeting efficiencies of £306k 

in 2018/19. The majority (£164k) of these planned savings originate from 
the rollout of LED (light emitting diode) lighting across the borough, which 
will reduce costs through energy efficiency over standard lighting. An 
additional income (£50k) is expected to be generated via a new cycle 
storage initiative. New commercial income is targeted (£82k), mostly from 
making better use of our assets. Back office savings of £10k are sought 
from replacing temporary staff with permanent staff. 

 
Parking 

7.4. The Parking directorate is expecting to generate an additional £520k from 
2018/19 to support transport and environmental spending. The majority 
(£500k) arises from changes to the Pay and display infrastructure, and 
moving towards more cashless parking which is expected to increase 
income by making parking easier while lowering operating costs.  It is 
expected that the introduction of new pay & display machines will lower the 
costs of maintenance and cash collection.  Changes in the handling of 
correspondence is expected to reduce demand. Other changes are 
designed to improve overall debt management and collection.  
 

Environmental Health, Community Safety & Emergency Services  
7.5. New external funding has been identified to fund Air Quality initiatives, 

saving the council £60k. The Environmental Health service is targeting 
income growth of £13k from noise and nuisance, pest control and 
licensing. This is expected to be delivered through a combination of fully 
recovering administration costs and increasing the number of chargeable 
jobs. Budget growth of £115k is included from 2018/19 to strengthen 
emergency planning (£15k) and corporate health and safety arrangements 
(£100k). This funding is intended to reassure the public and staff that the 

Page 15



 
 

Council provides legally compliant and safe services. New external funding 
for the Neighbourhood Watch scheme will provide £5k. Moving to a new 
framework agreement for the provision of the stray dog service will save 
£4k.   

 
Building and Property Management 

7.6. MTFS growth of £525k has been requested to provide for a likely increase 
in rent for 145 King Street arising from the rent review under the terms of 
the lease. Efficiencies of £430k have been identified from 2018/19. This 
includes a review of major contracts and changes in planned specifications 
which are expected to generate savings of £203k.  Additional proposed 
savings originate from the maximisation of commercial rent income (£180k) 
through improved use of our property assets. Changes to our in-house 
client team overseeing our facilities management contract is expected to 
save approximately £40k. 
 
Cleaner, Greener and Cultural Services (CGCS) 

7.7. A review of the major event contracts in the borough is expected to save 
£27k from 2018/19. A proposed inflationary uplift on commercial waste 
fees and charges is expected to deliver an additional £49k in income, 
although this is not guaranteed and so is shown as medium risk in terms of 
delivery. The introduction of a new private land and street cleansing 
service in 2017/18 is proving to be a success. As such, new income of £5k 
is targeted in this area for 2018/19.  
 
Commercial Services 

7.8. This includes the waste and street cleansing contract and street scene 
enforcement, both of which are now managed by the Commercial 
Directorate. The end of the previous bi-borough management 
arrangements in waste contract management has saved £5k. An external 
review of the waste and street cleansing contract has identified potential 
savings. The proposals are not yet fully developed or agreed – as such, the 
£159k saving included in the savings plans is rated as high risk. Plans will 
continue to be developed.   
 
Markets and Street Trading 

7.9. This service is now managed by the Regeneration, Planning and Housing 
Services department. Budgets will be moved in year in 2018/19.  
 
Executive Support and Finance 

7.10. A review of management and support costs will save the Council £110k 
from 2018/19; The service portfolios within the Environmental Service 
Group have been reorganised, enabling a reduction in the number of 
senior managers, saving £80k. A review of the Departmental Finance 
Team, centred around the newly organised Environmental Services Group, 
will save £10k. A review of Business and Executive Support will also save 
£20k.   
 

8. Equality Implications 
 

Page 16



 
 

8.1. A draft Equality Impact Analysis (EIA), which assesses the impacts on 
equality of the main items in the budget proposals relevant to this PAC, is 
attached as Appendix 4. A final EIA will be reported to Budget Council. 

 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 
 
Appendix 1 – Savings and Growth Proposals 
 
Appendix 2 – Risks 
 
Appendix 3 – Fees and Charges Not Increasing at the Standard Rate 
 
Appendix 4 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 

Page 17



Environmental Services Savings and Growth Proposals Appendix 1

Directorate Service Description

2018-19 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Environmental Services

BPM Civic Accommodation Review civic accommodation 525 525 525 525

EH,CS&ES Emergency Planning Strengthen emergency planning arrangements 15 15 15 15

EH,CS&ES Environmental Health - Residential Strengthen Corporate Health and Safety service 100 100 100 100

Total Growth 640 640 640 640

Service Service Description Delivery Risk

2018-19 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Environmental Services

T&H and P&L Transport & Highways Cycle street furniture advertising initiative High (50) (75) (75) (75)

T&H and P&L Transport & Highways Transport Planning Consultancy High (10) (11) (11) (11)

T&H and P&L Transport & Highways Savings through the roll out of Light Emitting Diode Lighting across the borough Medium (164) (164) (164) (164)

T&H and P&L Leisure & Parks Provide a digital genealogy service for Cemetery & Bereavement services Medium (2) (5) (10) (10)

Total Existing SavingsTotal Existing Savings (226) (255) (260) (260)

T&H and P&L Network Assurance Introduce formal licensing process for placing advertising boards on the public highway Low (20) (20) (20) (20)

T&H and P&L Network Assurance Review administrative and enforcement arrangements for skips and building material licences Low (10) (10) (10) (10)

T&H and P&L Highways Projects Review Highways Team - replace temporary staff with permanent staff Medium (10) (32) (32) (32)

T&H and P&L Highways Projects Introduce new charge for Transport and Highways design work relating to planning applications High (20) (20) (20) (20)

T&H and P&L Leisure & Parks Maximise commercial rental income from parks and open spaces Medium (20) (50) (50) (50)

Parking Parking 'Deep dive' review of the Parking service Medium (45) (45) (45) (45)

Parking Parking Increase income from advertising on Pay & Display parking machines High (20) (20) (20) (20)

Parking Parking Consequences of Major Changes to Infrastructure for Paid-for Parking  Medium (500) (500) (500) (500)

BPM Facilities Management Review energy contract Low (60) (60) (60) (60)

BPM Facilities Management Review Total Facilities Management client side arrangements - increase number of apprentices Low (20) (20) (20) (20)

BPM Facilities Management Maximise commercial rent income Low (180) (180) (180) (180)

BPM Facilities Management Review Total Facilities Management client side arrangements Low (22) (43) (43) (43)

BPM Facilities Management Review water supply contract Medium (20) (20) (20) (20)

BPM Facilities Management Contractual reductions in the Total Facilities Management contract Low (75) (75) (75) (75)

BPM Facilities Management Review the Total Facilities Management contract - variations resulting from disposed buildings Medium (53) (53) (53) (53)

EH,CS&ES Environmental Health Residential New external funding for Air Quality Low (60) (60) (60) (60)

EH,CS&ES Environmental Health Residential Increase Noise and Nuisance income Medium (3) (5) (5) (5)

EH,CS&ES Environmental Health Commercial Increase Pest Control income High (5) (5) (5) (5)

EH,CS&ES Environmental Health Commercial Increase Licensing income Low (5) (5) (5) (5)

EH,CS&ES Community Safety New external funding for Neighbourhood Watch Scheme Low (5) (5) (5) (5)

EH,CS&ES Community Safety Review Stray Dog contract Low (4) (4) (4) (4)

EH,CS&ES Registrars Increase Registrar income through new service offer Medium (6) (10) (10) (10)

CGCS Events Review major event contracts Low (27) (27) (27) (27)

CGCS Commercial Waste Increase commercial waste income through increase in fees and charges Medium (49) (49) (49) (49)

CGCS Commercial Waste Increase income from private land and road street cleansing Medium (5) (5) (5) (5)

MTFS Growth

MTFS Savings

P
age 18



Service Service Description Delivery Risk

2018-19 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Environmental Services

MTFS Savings

CGCS Waste Disposal Targeted increase in recycling High (120) (120) (120) (120)

OCS Waste Management End bi-borough working for senior waste and enforcement managers Low (5) (5) (5) (5)

OCS Waste Contract Review the waste collection contract High (159) (159) (159) (159)

ES&F Executive, Support & Finance Review Senior Management Low (80) (80) (80) (80)

ES&F Executive, Support & Finance Review Finance Support Low (10) (10) (10) (10)

ES&F Executive, Support & Finance Review of Business/Executive Support Low (20) (20) (20) (20)

Total New Savings (1,637) (1,717) (1,717) (1,717)

Total Efficiency Savings (1,863) (1,972) (1,977) (1,977)

P
age 19



Appendix 2 - Risks

Departmental Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2018/19 

Value 

(£000's)

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Environmental Services ( Inc CPA)

Highways & Projects WIFI income budget will not be achieved          133          133          133          133 
Currently working closely with Arqiva on new 

initiatives to increase revenue for the Council.

Highways & Projects Bay Media Advertising Contract            59            59            59            59 

Highways have recently taken this over and working 

with BayMedia to increase advertising including 

introducing monthly contract management meetings.

Highways & Projects
2015/16 MTFS - Sponsored information 

boards on the highway
           50            50            50            50 

Combined project with Cycling Initiative. Currently 

working on designs for both and going to LDG for 

approval. Are working to develop marketing strategy 

and have attend industry seminars were there is a 

great interest in this proposal. 

Highways & Projects
2017-18 MTFS - TTS15 - Cycle street 

furniture initiative
           75            75            75            75 as above

Parks & Open Spaces
Reactive Repairs – Grounds Maintenance – 

The budget of £110k may prove inadequate 
           50            50            50            50 

Other funding sources are being considered, with 

Building Property Management colleagues, to fund 

additional costs of infrastructural assets, which need 

replacing.

Transport & Highways
Staff time recharges to projects fail to cover 

salaries expenditure in full
         200          200          200          200 

Managers will ensure prompt logging of new projects 

and that officers update time sheets in good time

Transport Planning & Development

Street works/Highways license Fixed Penaly 

Notice (FPN) income changes due to 

changes in the law

           90            90            90            90 

SW FPN's income is down because of operational 

guidance issued by DfT rather than change in law. 

Highway FPN income is down due to us being more 

robust in our inspection regime. Income is directly 

linked to amount of work carried out and how utilities 

perform so income could be more or less than budget 

Transport Planning & Development
Transport Planning Consultancy income will 

not be achieved
           65            65            65            65 Work is underway to generate revenue

Parking

Parking suspensions income may fall if the 

wider economy slows, leading to reduce 

property development activity and reduced 

demand for parking bay suspensions.

      1,000       1,000       1,000       1,000 
Parking fees not set to raise income, so no mitigation 

proposed

Parking

Receipts from moving traffic offence penalty 

charge notices will fall if driver behaviour 

improves.

      1,000       1,000       1,000       1,000 

Reducing offences is the object of moving traffic 

penalties, so a reduced income would be a sign of 

success

Risk

P
age 20



Appendix 2 - Risks

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2018/19 

Value 

(£000's)

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Risk

Parking
Risk of delay in introducing call-back 

function
           45            45            45            45 

The service would consider making other adjustments 

to its staffing.

Asset Strategy and Portfolio 

Management

Unfunded revenue costs incurred in 

appropriation of General Fund assets to 

HRA as well as transactions costs for 

transfer of assets for community benefits.

           50            50            50            50 

Housing colleagues will agree to ongoing revenue 

funds for assets transferring from General Fund to 

HRA

Building Control

There is an income shortfall on Building 

Control. This is primarily due to the current 

recession in the construction industry as a 

result of the uncertainties surrounding Brexit 

and the increased competition from the 

private approved inspectors.

         150          150          150          150 
Further opportunities being explored to identify new 

commissions (internal and external) 

Facilities Management

There is a project that is being planned 

which is designed to increase the overall 

specification for all Health and Safety and 

Compliance works across the Hammersmith 

and Fulham Estates. The costs for these 

works are not contained within the existing 

TFM budget.

         500          250          150          100 

There is a short life programme that will report to 

senior officers and ensure it is understood the 

ongoing liability and some of this work may be picked 

up as part of Corporate Planned maintenance 

programme

Rent and Other Properties

Lyric Theatre - Unfunded repairs and 

maintenance costs above the agreed cap of 

£50k

         100          100          100          100 
A monitoring programme will be put in place for this 

figure

EH Private Housing - 

Selective/Additional Licensing

New private housing licensing income does 

not cover the additional administration costs 

in full

         300          300          300          300 

Closely monitor to ensure that expenditure is reduced 

in line with any reductions in income. Report progress 

on this Commercial business case to the Commercial 

Board

Registrars

Loss of Nationality Checking Service 

income, resulting from Home Office shift to 

online digital services

           45            45            45            45 

Identify alternative income generating potential within 

the service area, although this may be limited (look to 

other boroughs for opportunities). Seek support from 

the Commercial Team to increase income as far as 

possible.

Events and Lettings Filming income budgets not delivered in full          125          125          125          125 

Fully mobilise and exploit new filming and events 

location library. Work with the Commercial Team to 

maximise sales.

Waste Disposal
Waste disposal rates and tonnages increase 

by more than budgeted
            -            645       1,014       1,383 

Regular finance review and reporting through DMT. 

Continue to progress action plans to target reductions 

in general waste tonnages and increase recycling.

P
age 21



Appendix 2 - Risks

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2018/19 

Value 

(£000's)

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Risk

Ducting Contract

Risk that the current ducting concession 

contract terminates/reduces at the February 

2018 contract review point, with no 

alternative provider or substitution

         290          290          290          290 

Work with the Commercial Director and concession 

holder to identify new large contracts. Regular finance 

review to monitor concession holder’s performance. 

Set aside departmental reserves.

Various
Loss of commercial income due to 

refurbishment of Hammersmith Town Hall
         794          794          794          794 

Continue to raise with the project lead and Strategic 

Director for Finance to ensure that any financial 

losses are provided for in the project business case 

and costings

Various
Commercial income savings not achievable 

due to market conditions
         220          220          220          220 

Work with the Commercial Director to develop and 

implement plans. Regular finance review to monitor 

service demand. Report through DMT and 

Commercial Board

5,341 5,736 6,005 6,324 Environmental Services (Inc CPA) Total

P
age 22



Appendix 3

Environmental Services Fees and Charge 2018-19 Exceptions to the inflationary 3.9% increase Appendix 3

Directorate Service Fee Description Sub Category
2017-18 

Fee (£)

2018-19 

Fee (£)
% Change Reason for exception to inflationary increase

Parking Permits Individual's first permit (6mths) 71.00 71.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Individual's second permit (6mths) 260.00 260.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Individual's first permit (Yearly) 119.00 119.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Individual's second permit (Yearly) 497.00 497.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Discounted permit charges (Green vehicles) 60.00 60.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Business first permit (6mths) 464.00 464.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Business second permit (6mths) 735.00 735.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Business first permit (Yearly) 791.00 791.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Business second permit (Yearly) 1,310.00 1,310.00 0.0%

Parking Permits Doctors 125.00 125.00 0.0%

Parking Pay and Display Zone A 2.80 2.80 0.0%

Parking Pay and Display Zone A - Visitor's 1.80 1.80 0.0%

Penalty Charge Notices More Serious 130.00 130.00 0.0%

Penalty Charge Notices Less Serious 80.00 80.00 0.0%

Towaway 200.00 200.00 0.0%

Suspension of Parking Bay 1-5 Days 40.00 40.00 0.0%

Suspension of Parking Bay 6-42 Days 60.00 60.00 0.0%

Suspension of Parking Bay 43 days + 80.00 80.00 0.0%

Community Safety Motorcycle Recovey Individual 50.00 50.00 0.0% Price freeze as current price is reasonable

Community Safety Stray Dogs Return of Stray Dogs to Owners 25.00 25.00 0.0%

Community Safety Stray Dogs Statutory fee 25.00 25.00 0.0%

Community Safety Stray Dogs Administration Fee 25.00 25.00 0.0%

Community Safety Stray Dogs Kennelling (per day) 12.50 12.50 0.0%
Price freeze as published charges have not yet 

been implemented

Neighbourhood Wardens Patrols
Neighbourhood Warden Patrols 

(per hour)
100.00 100.00 0.0%

Price freeze as main customer base is Registered 

Social Landlords

Anti Social Behaviour Investigations Casework (per hour) 100.00 100.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Investigations
Professional Witness Service (per 

hour)
50.00 50.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Pin  hole camera hire - charge per 

day
10.00 10.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Pin hole camera with briefcase 

hire - charge per day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Lipstick camera hire - charge per 

day
10.00 10.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Lipstick camera with briefcase hire 

- charge per day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Door viewer camera hire - charge 

per day
10.00 10.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Door viewer camera with briefcase 

hire - charge per day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Large zoom camera hire - charge 

per day
15.00 15.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Large zoom camera with briefcase 

hire - charge per day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire Polecam hire - charge per day 50.00 50.00 0.0%

Parking

Environmental Health, 

Community Safety & 

Emergency Services

Charge set in statute

Parking fees will be considered in the context of 

Parking Policy

Price freeze as LBHF is new to the market so wish 

to remain competitive

Price freeze to remain competitive.

P
age 23



Appendix 3

Environmental Services Fees and Charge 2018-19 Exceptions to the inflationary 3.9% increase Appendix 3

Directorate Service Fee Description Sub Category
2017-18 

Fee (£)

2018-19 

Fee (£)
% Change Reason for exception to inflationary increase

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Door viewer camera (housed) hire - 

charge per day
15.00 15.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Metal hide with camera hire - 

charge per day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Notice board camera hire - charge 

per day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Fire sign camera hire - charge per 

day
25.00 25.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Motion sensor camera hire - 

charge per day
20.00 20.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Briefcase camera plus audio hire - 

charge per day
50.00 50.00 0.0%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera hire
Camera equipped vehicle hire - 

charge per day
50.00 50.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras Survey (per hour) 25.00 25.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras Individual PoleCam (set up) 400.00 400.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras
Individual PoleCam (charge per 

day)
100.00 100.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras
Individual PoleCam (charge per 

week)
600.00 600.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras
Individual PoleCam (charge per 

calendar month)
1,800.00 1,800.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras Two PoleCams (set up) 600.00 600.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras Two PoleCams (charge per day) 180.00 180.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras Two PoleCams (charge per week) 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.0%

CCTV 4G Deployable CCTV cameras
Two PoleCams (charge per 

calendar month)
3,000.00 3,000.00 0.0%

CCTV Footage analysis
Forensic review of recorded 

footage (per hour)
30.00 30.00 0.0%

CCTV Footage analysis
Forensic review of recorded 

footage (per day)
200.00 200.00 0.0%

Registrars Notices
Notice of marriage/civil 

partnership
35.00 35.00 0.0%

Registrars Notices

Notice of marriage/civil 

partnership (subject to Home 

Office referral)

47.00 47.00 0.0%

Registrars Notices

Consideration of 

Divorce/Dissolution (outside of 

British Isles) by LRS

50.00 50.00 0.0%

Registrars Notices

Consideration of 

Divorce/Dissolution (outside of 

British Isles) by GRO

75.00 75.00 0.0%

Registrars Notices
Waiver (reduce 28 day notice 

period)
60.00 60.00 0.0%

Registrars Notices RG's Licence 15.00 15.00 0.0%

Environmental Health, 

Community Safety & 

Emergency Services

Price freeze as LBHF is new to the market so wish 

to remain competitive

Statutory fees, no increase

Price freeze as LBHF is new to the market so wish 

to remain competitive

P
age 24



Appendix 3

Environmental Services Fees and Charge 2018-19 Exceptions to the inflationary 3.9% increase Appendix 3

Directorate Service Fee Description Sub Category
2017-18 

Fee (£)

2018-19 

Fee (£)
% Change Reason for exception to inflationary increase

Registrars
Conversion of a Civil Partnership into 

Marriage
At Register Office 45.00 45.00 0.0%

Registrars
Conversion of a Civil Partnership into 

Marriage
Completing the declaration 27.00 27.00 0.0%

Registrars
Conversion of a Civil Partnership into 

Marriage

Signing the declaration in a 

religious building registered for 

same sex couples

91.00 91.00 0.0%

Registrars

Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership/Naming 

Ceremonies/Vow Renewals (including 

rehearsals)

Attendance at the Register Office 46.00 46.00 0.0%

Registrars

Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership/Naming 

Ceremonies/Vow Renewals (including 

rehearsals)

Marble Gallery - Saturdays 650.00 650.00 0.0% Increased last year. Current fee is competitive

Registrars Fee for attendance at places of Worship 86.00 86.00 0.0%

Registrars Copy certificates
Copy certificate at time of 

registration
4.00 4.00 0.0%

Registrars Copy certificates Copy certificate in current register 7.00 7.00 0.0%

Registrars Copy certificates
Copy certificate from historical 

records
10.00 10.00 0.0%

Registrars Copy certificates
Copy certificate from historical 

records - administration fee
5.00 5.00 0.0%

Registrars Copy certificates
While You Wait service for copy 

certificates - Price on application
40.00 40.00 0.0%

Registrars Copy certificates
24hr service for copy certificates - 

Price on application
30.00 30.00 0.0%

Registrars Fees for Changes to Initial Registration Consideration of Space 17 40.00 40.00 0.0%

Registrars Fees for Changes to Initial Registration
Consideration of Corrections by 

LRS
75.00 75.00 0.0%

Registrars Fees for Changes to Initial Registration
Consideration of Corrections by 

GRO
90.00 90.00 0.0%

Registrars Cancellation & Booking Changes Non-refundable deposit per notice 35.00 35.00 0.0%

Registrars Cancellation & Booking Changes
Non-refundable deposit for 

ceremony bookings
100.00 100.00 0.0%

Registrars Cancellation & Booking Changes
Amendment administration fee for 

ceremony bookings
35.00 35.00 0.0%

Transport Parts
Cost + 

10.5%

Cost + 

10.5%
0.0%

Transport Fuel - Diesel / Petrol / LPG
Cost + 8.5 

to 10.5%

Cost + 8.5 

to 10.5%
0.0%

Transport Ad Hoc Vehicle Hire
Cost + 

10.5%

Cost + 

10.5%
0.0%

Transport Management and Administration Charge

Total Cost 

(excluding 

Fuel and 

NSEs) + 

10.5%

Total Cost 

(excluding 

Fuel and 

NSEs) + 

10.5%

0.0%

Transport Labour Rate per hour (prices starting at) from £45 from £45 0.0%

Current fee is competitive

Current charging methodology is competitive

Environmental Health, 

Community Safety & 

Emergency Services

Statutory fees, no increase

Statutory fees, no increase

Statutory fees, no increase

Current fee is competitive

P
age 25



Appendix 4 
    

1 
 

DRAFT        

 

DRAFT Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) 

Community Safety, Environment & Residents Services  

Budget Proposals 2018/19 

 

1. Environmental Services is targeting efficiencies of £1.9m from 2018/19. The 
majority of the savings proposed are concerned with generating new commercial 
income, reducing contract spend, and efficiencies in supplies and services 
spend. As such, there are no adverse equality implications for any particular 
groups with protected characteristics. Where there are staff changes leading to 
savings, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part of the 
reorganisation process. 

 
2. Environmental Services is seeking budget growth of £0.8m from 2018/19. This 

will largely fund increased accommodation costs, as well as address existing 
budget pressures. There are no associated equalities implications. Additional 
investment is requested for the Corporate Health and Safety service. This 
funding is intended to strengthen public and staff assurance that the Council 
provides legally compliant and safe services. 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
RESIDENTS SERVICES POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
 29 January 2018 

 

 

UPDATE ON THE CYCLE SUPERHIGHWAY 9 CONSULTATION BY 
TRANSPORT FOR LONDON 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents’ 
Services – Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Mahmood Siddiqi, Director for Transport and Highways 
 

Report Author: 
Richard Duffill, Borough Cycling Officer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 1974 
Richard.Duffill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. Transport for London (TfL) consulted between 21st September and 31st 

October 2017 on proposals for a ‘Cycle Superhighway (9)’ (CS9) between 
Kensington Olympia and Goldhawk road in the Borough. 
 

1.2. The TfL consultation was targeted to local residents, businesses and 
community groups along the route to enable all stakeholders to share their 
views. 
 

1.3. Hammersmith and Fulham Council agreed at Cabinet on the 10th November 
2017 to extend the consultation for all our residents and businesses so that 
they could send the council their comments. 
 

1.4. TfL is currently analysing responses to their consultation and considering in 
detail the issues raised. 
 

1.5. The council submitted to TfL initial technical comments on the proposed route 
and continues to collect the views of its residents and business owners along 
the route. 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



1.6. Hammersmith and Fulham council is the Highways Authority for the roads 
used for this route in the borough, and a decision to allow any scheme to be 
implemented lies with the Cabinet. 

 
1.7. The Cabinet will make a final decision over whether or not the proposed 

scheme is to be allowed after considering all the responses from its Residents 
and Businesses and any revised changes proposed by TfL. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Community Safety, Environment and Resident Services Policy and 

Accountability Committee PAC acknowledge the Councils response to the TfL 
consultation on CS9, which consider the concerns of residents and 
businesses along the route. 

 
2.2 The “committee” discuss the proposed scheme, the technical comments 

raised so far and put forward any other areas of concern for consideration 
along with suggestions of how the scheme could be improved. 

 
2.3  Requests that TfL and officers continue to analyse and consider all the issues 

raised by local residents, businesses and stakeholders. 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
3.1 The council will ensure that the views and opinions of its residents and 

businesses are carefully considered in the development of any proposed 
scheme, to enable the administration to review any revised scheme and 
determine the council’s position on it.   

 
 

4. BACKGROUND 
 

4.1 TfL carried out a full consultation along the proposed route between 21st 
September and 31st October 2017.  

4.2 Cycle Superhighway 9 is designed to help TfL meet the target set out in the 

Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy of changing the way people choose to travel 

so that 80% of all London trips are made by foot, bicycle or public transport by 

2041, up from 64% today. 

4.3 The TfL consultation stated that the aims of the proposed CS9 route were as 

follows. 

4.4 Improving safety for people who want to walk and cycle by providing a cleaner 

and safer route for cycling in west London, largely segregated from other 

vehicles. By giving people space and time to cycle through the area more 

easily, and by improved crossing facilities for pedestrians, more people would 

Page 28



be encouraged to use these healthy and sustainable forms of transport while 

keeping other traffic moving. 

4.5 Facilitating and encouraging active travel in west London by making it easier 

for people to use sustainable travel and lead active lifestyles. The proposals 

form part of the Mayor of London’s plan for Healthy Streets to encourage 

more people to walk and cycle by making London’s streets healthier, safer 

and more welcoming. The proposal aims to encourage people who would like 

to cycle but currently feel unable to do so. 

4.6 Connecting and improving town centres from Kensington Olympia through 

Hammersmith to Chiswick and Brentford, linking important amenities and 

facilities in the heart of those town centres, and making them more pleasant 

places to live, work, shop and spend time. The proposal would install new 

pedestrian crossings, as well as upgrading existing ones. The proposal would 

also install new seating areas to enable people to stop and rest and spend 

more time in the town centres. Improvements would also be made to the 

street environment including installing new trees and planting.  

4.7 The consultation asked for feedback on the proposals from residents, 
businesses, employers, transport users and other relevant stakeholders. TfL 
publicised the consultation using leaflets distributed across a wide area, 
targeted email campaigns and via news stories in regional and local media. 

 
4.8 The Council attended five public drop-in events in the Borough and met with 

other stakeholder groups and used its in-house media to promote the 
consultation. 

 
4.9 Hammersmith and Fulham Council agreed at Cabinet on the 10th November 

2017 to extend the consultation for all our residents and businesses so that 
they could send the council their comments 

 
5.  CONSULTATION COMMENTS 
 
5.1 The Council will continue to listen to residents and businesses views on 

proposals. 
 
5.2  So far, the Council has submitted the following initial comments to the TfL 

consultation: 

5.3 Section A (Hammersmith Road): The borough called for consistent lane 
widths between Shortlands and Colet Gardens, pedestrian facilities east/west 
across Edith Road, alternative facilities for cyclists accessing North End Road 
and measures to ensure vehicles can turn left into Olympia Way across the 
cycle track safely.  

 

Page 29



5.4 The borough called for a review of certain junctions with consideration of 
servicing requirements for Olympia, and an investigation into alternative 
locations for the taxi rank proposed on Avonmore Road. 

 
5.5 Section B (Hammersmith Gyratory): The borough called for reduced turning 

movements across the cycle track through a review of access arrangements 
at Bute Gardens, Wolverton Gardens and Rowan Road. 

 
5.6 The borough asked for adequate loading and servicing provision for 

businesses between St Peter’s Square and Black Lion Lane. 
 
5.7 Section D (King Street East): The borough called for measures to increase 

footway space around the bus stop, changes to the pedestrian crossing and 
confirmation that the cycle track would be fully segregated here. 

 
5.8 Section E (King Street West): The borough called for measures to reduce 

turning movements across the cycle track at Holcome Street, Black Lion Lane 
and Beavor Lane.  

 
5.9 The borough called for improved pedestrian facilities, particularly near 

schools, and for the mature tree near the West London Free School to be 
retained, and for confirmation that heavy goods vehicles could turn at 
Ravenscourt Avenue,  

 
5.10 The borough called for the bus gate on Goldhawk Road to be removed and 

bus lane hours to remain unchanged.  
 
5.11 The borough called for access arrangements at British Grove to remain 

unchanged.  

Page 30



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
RESIDENTS’ SERVICES POLICY AND 

ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

29 January 2018 
 

 

A DRAFT CONSULTATIVE REPORT ON H&F COUNCIL’S EMERGENCY 
RESPONSE TO MAJOR INCIDENTS IN JUNE AND SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

Report of the Chief Executive, Kim Dero 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation: 
The author of the report has consulted extensively with H&F council officers from 
across departments who were involved in H&Fs immediate and ongoing responses 
to the Grenfell Tower fire and the Parsons Green terrorist incident. 
 

Wards Affected:  
All 
 

Accountable Director: Sarah Thomas, Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: 
Peter Smith, Head of Policy & Strategy 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2206 
peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. In 2017 there were two major incidents in and around Hammersmith & 

Fulham that required the authority to implement its emergency planning 
procedures.  These were the fire at Grenfell Tower in North Kensington in 
June and an explosion on a tube train in Parsons Green tube station in 
September. 

 
1.2. This report reviews the H&F response to those incidents through the 

experiences of H&F officers involved in the response to Grenfell and Parsons 
Green at both strategic and operational levels.  The review has also 
considered the views of local businesses and community organisations that 
participated in a ‘hackathon’ event convened by the council to examine the 
views of partners. 
 

1.3. The report identifies action taken to date to improve the council’s readiness 
and response to major incidents and makes recommendations for additional 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



action to further improve this response.  This report was submitted to Audit, 
Pensions and Standards Committee and Finance and Delivery PAC in 
December and to Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts PAC on 16 
January and is being submitted to all remaining PACs on 29th and 30th 
January, before going to Cabinet in March. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. The CSERS PAC is invited to discuss the findings and recommendations of 
the report and, should it see fit, make suggestions, including on implementing 
the recommendations, for the Council to consider in its response. 
 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. H&F Council has a duty of care to all of its residents and must ensure that it 
has appropriate plans and processes in place to deliver on that duty. 
 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. The CSERS PAC is requested to consider and discuss the report’s 
recommendations, and to refer its comments on to Cabinet. 

 
 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1. The research that has informed the recommendations within the report has 

involved interviews with a variety of different officers, during which various 
options for improving planning and procedures have been examined and 
analysed. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1. The author of the report has been engaged in consultation with council 

officers and has examined feedback and proposals from an event that 
gathered the views of businesses and community organisations. 
 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. The implementation of these recommendations will have no direct equality 
implications.  
 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. The Civil Contingencies Act provides a framework for Civil Protection in the 
UK. The Council is classified as category one. The “report” at appendix one 

Page 32



sets out at paragraph 1.9 the full set of civil protection duties the Council has. 
The “report” makes a number of recommendations for action in relation to the 
Local Authority’s response to future emergencies. The legal team can be 
further consulted about the implementation of any of the recommendations, if 
the Council wishes to implement these. 
 

8.2 Implications completed by: Hazel Best, Principal Lawyer, tel. 020 7641 2955 
 

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. The Government’s Bellwin scheme provides emergency financial assistance 

to local authorities in England and is activated at the discretion of the 
Secretary of State. Bellwin funding is designed to cover uninsurable risk over 
a local threshold. It will recompense authorities for the costs of emergency 
measures undertaken to safeguard life or property, or to prevent further 
suffering and inconvenience locally, during exceptional circumstances. There 
are strict rules on the types of expenditure that are eligible for reimbursement. 
In relation to the Grenfell fire incident, RBKC will be making a claim under the 
Bellwin scheme which will include the additional costs incurred by 
Hammersmith and Fulham in providing mutual aid.  
 

9.2. In response to the wider lessons learned from the Grenfell Tower fire and 
Parsons Green incidents, on 4 September 2017, Cabinet approved a 
drawdown of £111,000 from the Community Safety Reserve to increase the 
resilience of the Emergency Planning Team for 18 months. 
 

9.3. On 18 October 2017, Full Council approved amendments to the Four-Year 
Capital Programme 2017-21 to include £20m for the Fire Safety Plus 
Programme. Whilst the Department for Communities and Local Government 
has requested details of fire safety works from councils, no additional funding 
has been made available to date. Until further clarity on funding has been 
received, the programme will be funded from a combination of the use of 
reserves and internal borrowing. The detailed financial implications of the Fire 
Safety Plus Programme are included in the Full Council report.   
 

9.4. Taking forward the recommendations for further actions identified in this 
report, will be subject to further decisions, the financial implications of which 
will be confirmed at that time.  
 

9.5. Implications completed by: Emily Hill, Head of Corporate Finance, 020 8753 
3145. 

 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Notes from the hackathon on 
emergency planning 

Peter Smith x2206 Delivery and 
Value/ HTH 

Page 33



 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: A Draft Report on H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major 
Incidents in June and September 2017 

Page 34



1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

A draft consultative report on H&F 
Council’s Emergency Response to 

Major Incidents in June and 
September 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 2018  

Page 35



2 
 

Contents 

           Page 

1. Introduction          03 
 

2. Command and Control        06 

3. Communications         09 

4. Emergency Planning        12 

5. Housing          16 

6. Welfare          19 

7. Donations Management        21 

8. Training          23 

9. Partnership Work with Communities, Local Agencies & Businesses 24 

10. Regional and National Implications      25 

 
 
Appendix 1: Maps of Grenfell Tower and Parsons Green   28 

Appendix 2: Emergency Planning requirements     30 

Appendix 3: H&F Service Resilience Group     32 

Appendix 4: H&F Fire Safety Plus booklet     33 
  

Page 36



3 
 

1. Introduction 

 

Purpose of the report 

 

1.1 During 2017 London and the UK were affected by a range of major incidents 

including: 

 the terrorist attack on Westminster Bridge in March; 

 the Manchester Arena terrorist attack in May; 

 the terrorist attack at Borough Market/London Bridge in early June; 

 the Grenfell Tower Fire in mid June; 

 the terrorist attack near Finsbury Park Mosque in June; 

 the evacuation of residents from four tower blocks in Camden following 

fire safety testing in late June; 

 the terrorist attack on a tube train at Parsons Green in September. 

 

1.2 Two of these incidents required Hammersmith and Fulham (H&F) council to 

implement its emergency planning procedures.  They were the fire at Grenfell 

Tower in North Kensington in June and the explosion on a tube train at 

Parsons Green station in September.   

 

1.3 The purpose of this report is to present findings of a review that has examined 

H&F’s experiences in implementing its emergency planning procedures, to 

determine the effectiveness of our response and any areas for improvement 

in the future.  The report is draft for consultation with the Audit, Pension and 

Standards Committee and five Policy and Accountability Committees (PACs).  

Following consideration of the discussion and feedback at these forums, the 

findings of the review and consultative process will be presented to Cabinet in 

March 2018.   

 

1.4 This version of the report has been fully updated following the discussions at 

the Audit, Pension and Standards Committee and Finance and Delivery PAC 

in December 2017 and the Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts 

PAC on 16 January 2018, adopting comments and additional 

recommendations made at those forums as well as tightening expressions 

and meaning following feedback.  The report may be further amended 

following consultation with the other PACs over the course of January 2018.   

 

Summary of the major incidents 

 

1.5 The Grenfell Tower fire, which began in the early hours of Wednesday 14 

June 2017, was one of the worst disasters in London and the UK in living 

Page 37



4 
 

memory1.  The impact of the disaster has reverberated far and wide.  A public 

inquiry is currently under way and criminal proceedings may follow, so this 

review is not intended to influence or undermine the due legal process of that 

inquiry and those proceedings.  With this in mind, the review purposefully 

does not comment on the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea’s 

(RBKC) response or affairs. 

 

1.6 The Grenfell Tower Inquiry will cover issues relating to the response in the 

aftermath of the fire and is set to review: 

(a) What policies, procedures and plans were in place on the part of 

central and local government for dealing with a major emergency such 

as the Grenfell Tower fire? 

(b) What was the response of the Tenant Management Organisation, 

central and local government by way of the provision of emergency 

relief in the days immediately following the fire? 

(c) Was the response adequate and, if not, in what respects was it 

inadequate? 

 

1.7 H&F borough has been significantly affected by the fire, with the council, 

councillors, council staff and local residents, community organisations and 

businesses all contributing to the efforts to provide relief to the many 

hundreds of people directly affected.   

 

1.8 In addition, at 8:35am on Friday 15 September 2017, an improvised explosive 

device was detonated on a tube at Parsons Green tube station2.  H&F Council 

was the authority with responsibility for the response to that incident.  The 

Parsons Green incident can not be compared in scale to the Grenfell Tower 

fire, in terms of the human tragedy and the duration of the impact on so many 

displaced families.  However, like Grenfell, it was an incident that required an 

emergency plan to be implemented and for people to be evacuated from the 

area as a police cordon was put in place.  It also attracted huge international 

media interest.   

 

1.9 As a local authority, H&F council is classed as a Category 1 responder under 

the terms of the Civil Contingencies Act 20043.  This means that the Council is 

subject to the full set of civil protection duties and is required to: 

 assess the risk of emergencies occurring and use this to inform 

contingency planning; 

 put in place emergency plans; 

                                                           
1
 See Appendix 1 for a map of the Grenfell Tower local area 

2
 See Appendix 1 for map of the Parsons Green local area 

3
 See Appendix 2 

Page 38



5 
 

 put in place business continuity management arrangements; 

 put in place arrangements to make information available to the public 

about civil protection matters and maintain arrangements to warn, inform 

and advise the public in the event of an emergency; 

 share information with other local responders to enhance co-ordination; 

 co-operate with other local responders to enhance co-ordination and 

efficiency; 

 provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary 

organisations about business continuity management. 

 

1.10 The review process consisted of a series of interviews with H&F staff who 

played major roles in the Council’s response to the Grenfell fire and its 

aftermath and to the Parsons Green terrorist incident, along with a 

‘hackathon’4 style event to gather the views of businesses, local agencies and 

community organisations that also played a role in the relief efforts, especially 

that at Grenfell.  This review is focussed on the lessons to be learned for H&F 

Council so it did not extend to interviews with RBKC staff nor to RBKC 

stakeholders.  To do so might have compromised the process of the public 

inquiry. 

 

1.11 This report is a follow up to the immediate H&F Emergency Planning Lessons 

Learned Report, which was presented to the Finance and Delivery PAC on 6th 

September 2017.  At that meeting the Committee recommended that a 

second report be provided to a subsequent meeting addressing: communities, 

hotel work, reassurance, community resilience and housing in relation to 

emergency planning, and that officers provide further information on when 

local emergencies escalate to national emergencies. 

 
1.12 The Grenfell Tower fire occurred across the H&F borough boundary in RBKC 

so the primary local authority with responsibility for delivering its civic 

protection duties was RBKC.  Hence, that council’s role, along with that of the 

Kensington and Chelsea Tenant Management Organisation is the central 

focus of the public inquiry.  However, given the scale of the disaster and the 

proximity of H&F to North Kensington, the Leader of H&F Council asked the 

Chief Executive to offer immediate and compassionate support.  This report 

examines the nature of that support, what worked well, what lessons have 

already been learned and what can be further improved for the future. 

 

                                                           
4
 A hackathon is an event consisting of focussed sessions with key stakeholders to consider complex problems 

in the pursuit of solutions 

Page 39



6 
 

1.13 The report is structured around a number of thematic sections relating to 

different aspects of the council’s implementation of its emergency planning 

procedures following both major incidents.   

 

 

2. Command and Control 

 

First 24 hours 

 

2.1 The Grenfell Tower fire took hold in the early hours of Wednesday 14 June.  

The Chief Executive of H&F Council immediately established a Service 

Resilience Group (SRG) to plan and oversee the Council’s response to the 

fire and its aftermath.  The group was chaired by the Chief Executive and 

brought together senior officers at daily meetings for a period of two weeks.   

 

2.2 In the first 24 hours, H&F was requested to send rest centre managers to 

three centres at Westway sports centre, Portobello and St Clements Church 

at about 11am on the Wednesday morning.  The H&F emergency response 

team also provided assistance.   

 

2.3 As the Parsons Green incident happened in H&F borough a Borough 

Emergency Command Centre (BECC) was established within ten minutes 

which led the H&F council emergency response.  

 

2.4 The Grenfell Tower fire and the Parsons Green terrorist incident have raised 

interest, at all levels across the council, in H&F’s emergency planning 

procedures and the command and control structure within it.  There is now a 

much broader understanding of this structure as officers from across the 

authority have seen it in action.  It is intended that this wider understanding 

will be maintained via broader communication networks and expanded 

training (see section 8).   

 

2.5 Directors involved in the SRG for the Grenfell response confirmed that the 

H&F command and control structure was clear to them.  However, those who 

were not part of the daily briefings (Children’s Services and Adult Social Care) 

were less clear about the distinction between the H&F sovereign response 

and the response under the “tri-borough” shared services arrangements (i.e. 

RBKC, Westminster City Council and H&F).  Some of the shared services 

officers interviewed as part of this review said the shared service 

arrangements with RBKC may have blurred the distinction between RBKC 

and H&F officer resources on the ground, where care workers and volunteers 

were operating.  In turn, this created some confusion about how H&F 

resources were being allocated.  The structure of any future SRG for an 

Page 40



7 
 

incident of the scale and scope of Grenfell needs to include senior 

representation from all directorates.  Additionally, it will be important that the 

work underway to disaggregate children’s, adults and public health shared 

services arrangements considers H&F’s sovereign capacity to respond to a 

major incident, including capacity to aid other boroughs in emergencies.  

 

2.6 At Parson’s Green, the council’s command and control structure and 

management of a robust operation was commended by London’s Local 

Authority Gold, the Metropolitan Police and London Fire Brigade (LFB).   

 

First few days 

 

2.7 On 17 June 2017, the Chief Executive appointed senior officers to set up two 

task groups in response to the Grenfell Tower fire – one to co-ordinate the 

provision of temporary accommodation and support for displaced Grenfell 

residents (the H&F Grenfell Outreach task force) and the other to address the 

concerns of H&F residents in tower blocks within the borough (the H&F 

Tenants’ Reassurance task force).   

 

2.8 The officers appointed to run these teams were clear as to their briefs and 

were given the necessary delegated authority to draw in other officers from 

across departments.  One of the task group managers noted that it had been 

helpful that the role and authority of the task force has been set out in writing 

and circulated to all those who needed to know of it.  He noted the value of 

the task force being a joined-up operation working across council services 

with named leads. 

 

2.9 Some of those drawn in to manage the situation on the ground in the days 

following the Grenfell disaster (i.e. those dealing with donation management), 

were less aware of the command and control structures.  This reflects the fact 

that a large number of volunteers had to be drafted in at short notice with 

limited previous training in emergency planning or knowledge of the borough’s 

Emergency Management Plan.  The extent to which officers working on the 

donations response needed to be briefed on the wider emergency response 

is, however, questionable.  Indeed, as donations on the scale received were 

unprecedented, donation management presented new leadership and skills 

challenges (see section 7). 

 

2.10 The experience suggests that the shared service arrangements had not 

foreseen the complexity of an incident such as the Grenfell disaster.  Each 

borough in the “tri-borough” arrangement had its own sovereign BECC.  For 

Grenfell, this caused confusion in the H&F command and control structure 

when H&F staff were allocated to support the emergency planning response 

Page 41



8 
 

as part of the shared services arrangements rather than through the H&F 

BECC or H&F command and control structure.   

 

 

Week by week 

 

2.10 The H&F Emergency Planning team compiles and circulates, to selected 

senior officers and those on emergency response rotas, a weekly rota known 

as ‘Weekly Orders’.  This sets out which officers are responsible for different 

levels of command and control in the event of an emergency incident.  

 

2.11 Following the experiences of 2017, challenges have been identified in how 

H&F council can effectively monitor operational activity and staff capacity and 

coordinate responses in shared service areas, which may be responding to 

dual reporting structures at the point of an emergency.  The Moving On 

programme, to disaggregate key “tri-borough” shared services, will address 

this issue for the future, in some part.  

 

Actions taken 

 

 The circulation of the Weekly Orders has been expanded. 

 

 The Chief Executive advised the Strategic Leadership Team to be on high 

alert and confirm capacity, resources and accuracy of communication 

channels in case of any further major incident over the summer months. This 

was agreed for July – September as L.B. Camden had evacuated four tower 

blocks due to safety concerns which, together with Grenfell residents and 

summer tourism, had reduced hotel availability locally.  

 

Recommendations for further action: 

 

 The circulation list for the Weekly Orders should be subject to a regular 

review, co-ordinated by the Chief Executive’s office and Human Resources, to 

ensure that all officers who may need to respond to an emergency are 

included in its circulation. 

 

 In the event of a disaster of the magnitude of the Grenfell fire there may be a 

need for a two-tier daily planning briefing – strategic and operational. 

 

 That the expectations from membership of a Service Resilience Group be 

clearly set out and communicated to attendees and relevant Directors/Heads 

of Service. 

Page 42



9 
 

 

 That the command and control and briefing arrangements should be built into 
emergency planning training and exercising. 
 

 Accurate records of staff deployed should be kept from the start of a 
response. 
 

 Continued shared services and any new partnerships or shared arrangements 
should be clear about ‘first call’ arrangements of H&F and H&F services to 
limit competing calls and under capacity at critical times of an emergency. 
 

 

3. Communications 

 

Internal/operational 

 

3.1 The Emergency Communications Plan is updated regularly, in liaison with the 

Emergency Planning team.  During both the Grenfell fire and Parsons Green 

incidents, the Communications division’s liaison with the Emergency Planning 

team was via the Local Authority Liaison Officer (LALO) and the Borough 

Emergency Command Centre (BECC).  Officers interviewed as part of this 

review advised that these internal communications worked well.   

 

3.2 Outside of this, responsible H&F Directors managed the operational 

communications on a day-to-day basis, following the daily briefings given by 

the Chief Executive at the SRG.  Communications with other staff was via the 

web, intranet and from those on the ground.   

 

3.3 Intelligence on the Grenfell fire evacuees placed in H&F hotels was initially 

received anecdotally when West Kensington Tenants’ and Residents’ 

Association alerted the Leader of the Council that evacuees had been placed 

in a Fulham hotel and seemed confused and unsupported.  This led H&F to 

respond immediately with emergency welfare assistance and small cash 

subsistence offers and led to the establishment of the H&F Grenfell Outreach 

team on Saturday 17th June.   

 

3.4 In the absence of other information, H&F officers approached hotel managers 

across the borough directly to obtain details on whether any evacuees had 

been placed in their hotels.  The media were keen to hear evacuees’ stories 

so there were trust issues to overcome in winning the confidence of hotel 

managers and support them to protect the privacy of evacuees and those who 

had been evacuated from the surrounding are . 

 

Page 43



10 
 

3.5 The limited information on who had been placed in which H&F hotels might 

have been partly overcome had there been an agreed protocol of information 

exchange between H&F Council and local hoteliers.  This suggestion 

emerged from both the interviews with officers and from discussions with a 

hotel manager at the community hackathon event.  The Council should 

consider future arrangements and establish a shared protocol with hoteliers in 

the borough.  It may be possible to agree a system of instant messaging of all 

hotels in the borough seeking offers of assistance in similar emergencies. 

 

3.6 Communication with hotel staff during the Grenfell relief effort was mainly via 

leaflets, through face-to-face or telephone contact with the H&F Grenfell 

Outreach Task Force.  A newsletter was produced for hotel residents telling 

them what support and services were available to them. 

 

External/ public communications 

 

3.7 After the Grenfell fire, the first external communication reassuring council 

residents in high rise blocks in the borough was sent on Thursday 15th June, 

the day after the fire.  The H&F Tenants’ Reassurance Task Force was 

formalised on Saturday 17th June.  Advice sessions were held at the 

Charecroft estate on the 16th and 23rd June.  Advice sessions were also 

organised on the Edward Woods Estate from Sunday 18th June.  There were 

daily sessions at this estate which were well attended, with officers taking 

questions on fire safety issues.  Information on safety and risk assessments, 

reassuring residents that H&F council tower blocks did not have the same 

cladding as at Grenfell and informing residents on processes underway to 

assess high-rise properties, were provided quickly via a wide range of 

communications channels. 

 

3.8 A meeting took place with Tenants’ and Residents’ Association (TRA) Chairs, 

the London Fire Brigade and council representatives in the following week to 

the Grenfell fire.  There were then public meetings with Edward Woods and 

Charecroft estate residents.  The Leader of the Council attended the 

meetings, as did ward councillors and the Cabinet Member for Housing. 

 

3.9 Some residents felt that there should have been visits to all of the TRAs.  

However, this would have stretched the small core group of officers, as they 

needed to be present at those meetings to answer the range of questions that 

residents were posing.  The LFB offered to attend any TRA meetings on 

request.  The Chief Executive had already held a meeting with the Borough 

Fire Commander early in her induction in June 2017 to ensure that good 

working relationships were formed with key partners.  There was a Q&A 

document published on the H&F website which was regularly updated.  It was 

Page 44



11 
 

noted that, on reflection, the circulation of Q&As to other TRAs not visited 

would have been helpful.   

 

3.10 The Grenfell disaster is probably the first incident of that scale to occur in the 

UK in an age where social media plays such an important role in 

communications and in shaping the public response.  Social media proved 

invaluable in feeding on-the-ground reports from local people into the council’s 

emergency response. The council’s communications team maintained a 

round-the-clock social media operation throughout both incidents. There is a 

clear need for an effective social media strategy, given the increasing role it 

plays in emergency incidents and to get clear, coherent messaging out as 

widely as possible – through as many channels as possible.  To assist, it is 

recommended that a pre-prepared, updated banner message is placed on the 

front page of the H&F council website in the event of another major incident. 

 

3.11 External communication was also undertaken to promote the H&F Fire Safety 

Plus programme.  This was launched following the Grenfell fire, and includes 

an extensive package of fire prevention measures and fire safety messages. 

A booklet on this package was sent to all high-rise residents of council 

properties first and then to all H&F council residents and made available on 

the council’s website. (see section 5) 

 

3.12 In relation to external communications at Parsons Green, it was suggested 

that more information was needed for those people unable to return to their 

homes because of the police cordon established.  However, the bomb was not 

made safe until 5pm so it was difficult for the police to give early information 

as to when people might be able to return home.  

 

3.13 Overall, this review has found that there was a joined-up approach to dealing 

with the media during both major incidents. H&F communications officers 

worked long hours to deal with media enquiries which were directly Grenfell-

related, as well as general tower block fire safety enquiries.  The main 

communications difficulty arising from the Grenfell fire was the Council’s 

capacity to answer large volumes of wide-ranging and detailed questions from 

the media, government and the public about all aspects of fire safety in 

council properties. At a time when resources were stretched in dealing directly 

with the incident on the ground, capacity to meet information demand was 

also stretched. This is an area that all services should consider in their 

emergency planning. 

 

Recommendations for action 

 

 All services should receive guidance on how to manage large-scale 

information demand in their emergency plans. 

Page 45



12 
 

 

 A social media strategy, including the use of the Next Door platform, should 

be prepared for an emergency incident communications response. 

 

 Alternative arrangements should be identified for communicating with 
residents to enable communications to continue if one or more of the mobile 
phone system, internet or the council website failed during an incident. 
 

 Single Points of Contact (SPOC) should be identified to deal with different 
types of communication enquiries in an emergency (e.g. media enquiries, 
requests from the emergency services, central government etc). This should 
be built into procedures, training and exercising. 
 

 Member briefings and training must make it clear who to contact in the event 
of an emergency so councillors can give information and feedback from the 
ground. 
 

 All staff should be informed of the emergency contact number. 
 

 A pre-prepared update banner message should be put on the front page of 
the H&F council website in the event of an incident. 
 

 

4. Emergency planning 

 

4.1 The emergency planning procedures in H&F are quite clear.  This is set out in 

the figure below.  In this structure, Gold is the strategic lead, the Chief 

Executive holds this role and was Gold at the time of both incidents; Silver is 

the tactical lead (a trained council officer); and Bronze are the operational 

leads (these are trained council officers, including a Welfare Bronze). 

 

Page 46



13 
 

 
 

4.2 If an emergency requires an evacuation, a Welfare Bronze is appointed 

(historically from Adult Social Care) to identify any premises within the cordon 

that include vulnerable persons or people with particular needs.  An LFB 

trained LALO will also be deployed to a rendezvous point.  The LALO attends 

all Silver meetings and reports back to the Duty Silver on what is required.  

The LALO then passes the information to the police, fire service and any other 

authorities providing emergency services. 

 

4.3 This review has found that the emergency planning responses from H&F to 

the Grenfell Tower fire and Parsons Green incident implemented 

organisational plans and provided appropriate assistance to those affected.  

Whilst H&F has the necessary capacity to respond to a large scale emergency 

within the borough, it is likely to require additional resources (e.g. via mutual 

aid) to relieve an emergency support team over time.   

 

4.4 Training is being expanded to increase the capacity of the authority to cope 

with an incident of the scale of the Grenfell fire in H&F.  As identified 

elsewhere in this report, there needs to be a wider general understanding of 

key aspects of H&F’s emergency management plan, through wider 

communications with staff, councillors and partners, as well as a specific need 

for a wider pool of trained officers for key emergency response roles.  The 

pool of trained officers needs to be offered periodic refresher training.   

 

4.5 Key insights from H&F officers supporting the Grenfell rest centre highlight the 

need for H&F to put in place pre-agreements with chemists, opticians, dentists 

Page 47



14 
 

etc for essential items (e.g. medications, glasses, dentures) for those 

displaced without their everyday items.  Agreements could also be made with 

local foodbanks to offer other essential provisions such as food and toiletries. 

 

Mutual aid 

 

4.6 Under London’s local authority Gold arrangements, any borough can request 

mutual aid when facing an emergency incident and there is a clear and 

agreed process to go through.  A request has to go to the London Resilience 

Group (LRG) and be signed off by London Local Authority Gold (LLAG).   

 

4.7 In the event of an incident requiring multi-agency regional strategic 

coordination, the steps below describe the process for activating the LLAG 

arrangements: 

1. The Metropolitan Police or London Resilience Team (LRT) activate Golds 

from all agencies as required. 

2. London Local Authority Gold is activated by the Metropolitan Police or 

LRT using contact details provided by London Fire Brigade Emergency 

Planning (LFB-EP). 

3. LLAG activates a London Local Authority Coordination Centre (LLACC). 

4. LLAG and Support Team (if there is a Strategic Coordination Centre 

(SCC)) travel to the designated meeting location. 

5. LLAG and Support Team (if SCC) arrive at designated meeting location 

and are met by the Duty LLACC Manager or LFB-EP SCC Liaison Officer 

(if SCC). 

6. LLAG establishes communications with the LLACC. 

 

4.8  Once mutual aid had been called in for the Grenfell fire, the timing of rotas 

had to be managed as the London Resilience team rotas did not align those 

already set up for H&F staff.  The response from the LRG was to allocate 

qualified social workers from every London local authority to work with the 

evacuees for an initial two-week period.   

 

4.9 A lesson from Grenfell concerns the role of neighbouring boroughs affected by 

a large scale incident, where the emergency response is being led by another 

borough.  Further work is required on how to involve neighbouring boroughs in 

these circumstances as part of London-wide responses.  H&F Council has 

raised this issue with the Local Government Association (LGA), in order that 

the role of ‘bystander’ boroughs is better utilised.  The Local Authority Panel 

(LAP), which acts on behalf of London’s local government, is developing 

service level agreements to provide the commitment to mutual aid at a sub-

regional level and provide London with consistent and effective resilience into 

the future.   

 

Page 48



15 
 

Actions taken 

 

 New H&F rest centre equipment has been purchased and is stored at 

Bagley’s Lane depot in Fulham.  There are enough beds and bedding for 145 

people with provisions for a further 80 stored nearby.   

 

 Tow bars have been added to new vehicles to ensure that they can transport 

trailers with bedding quickly to wherever they need to be – there had 

previously been only one vehicle with a tow bar.  Emergency planning 

equipment is also stored in the Courtyard Room storage cupboard in 

Hammersmith Town Hall. 

 

 A review of H&F‘s emergency planning procedures, following the Parsons 

Green incident, has been commissioned from an independent consultant. 

 

 Additional lanyards and high visibility jackets have been purchased and are 

now to be worn by all emergency responders at an incident. 

 

  

Page 49



16 
 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 A review should be undertaken of the best means of registering and storing 

records of people displaced to a rest centre in an emergency incident. 

 

 Consideration should be given to negotiating agreements with chemists, 

opticians, dentists and other local stores and suppliers to secure the 

emergency provision of essentials for any displaced residents in the event of 

a major incident.   

 

 The list of potential premises in H&F for emergency use as rest centres 

should be updated, along with contact details for keyholders and means of 

access. 

 

 Work should be undertaken to identify premises in H&F borough that might be 

used to provide emergency accommodation. 

 

 Emergency Planning should review the corporate emergency planning 

response arrangements, structure and responsibilities in the event of an 

emergency.  

 

 Additional emergency response and planning training should be provided for 

all senior staff and councillors.  

 

 Media training should be provided for councillors. 

 

 Information on emergency planning should be included as part of staff 

induction training. 

 

 High visibility jackets and personalised name badges should be supplied to all 

members of the strategic leadership team. 

 

 An annual Emergency Planning Report should be presented to Cabinet (in 

addition to any other papers required during the year) covering: 

1. Emergency planning progress across the Council 

2. Overview of emergency staffing levels 

3. Overview of training and exercising programmes and up-take. 

 Further work should be undertaken on involving neighbouring boroughs 

affected by a large scale incident including their role as part of London-wide 

responses, in order that the role of ‘bystander’ boroughs is better utilised.   

 

Page 50



17 
 

 It is noted that an independent peer challenge of London’s regional resilience 

procedures has been commissioned by London Councils on behalf of London 

Local Government.  

 

 

5. Housing 

 

Temporary accommodation for evacuees 

 

5.1 In August 2017, there were a total of 57 families, consisting of 108 people 

(including 18 children), displaced because of the Grenfell Tower fire, located 

in seven H&F hotels.  By 8th January 2018, this had reduced to 29 families, 

made up of 43 people.  

 

5.2 The families and individuals displaced required cash, food, clothes, health and 

care services, mobile phones and chargers, internet access and other 

supplies in the immediate days following the tragedy.  Laundry also had to be 

organised.   

 

5.3 One hotelier who took part in the H&F hackathon had a large number of the 

evacuees from Grenfell and the surrounding blocks staying at his hotel.  His 

staff were not adequately trained to deal with the traumatised guests that were 

placed in the hotel.  Once H&F had discovered that there were evacuees at 

the hotel, there were daily visits from the H&F Outreach team of support 

workers. This included Children’s Services placing key workers with every 

family located in an H&F hotel within 48 hours of notification of their arrival.  In 

the case of an emergency in Hammersmith & Fulham, the council’s Housing 

Service places families in temporary accommodation and informs Children's 

Services immediately and a social worker is allocated and visits on the same 

day.   

 

5.4 Hotel accommodation is the most obvious pool of temporary accommodation 

in H&F so a central database of such accommodation should be maintained 

by the Council.  There may be other unexplored options to consider, however, 

such as Airbnb and using residents’ spare rooms. 

 

5.5 Some of the officers assisting with finding temporary homes for Grenfell fire 

evacuees in H&F hotels noted the lack of a clear policy at that stage from 

RBKC as to what impact the acceptance of an offer of temporary 

accommodation in H&F might have on the rights of the tenant to be rehoused 

permanently in RBKC.  Some evacuees refused all offers of temporary 

accommodation from H&F due to fears that it would mean the loss of their 

entitlement to be rehoused in RBKC.  There needs to be cross-borough 

Page 51



18 
 

agreements between London councils in the event of a disaster of this nature, 

whereby acceptance of an offer of temporary accommodation by a 

neighbouring borough should not affect a tenant’s rights to social housing in 

their own borough.  H&F Council should agree such a policy for any social 

housing tenants of H&F Council that might be displaced by a similar incident 

in this borough.   

 

5.6 Information from both major incidents confirms the need for staff who are 

coordinating or arranging emergency support at the front line to have 

immediate access to financial resources to pay suppliers and access goods 

and services.  Moving forward, arrangements for corporate credit cards and 

their distribution within services should be considered within emergency plans. 

Efforts have been made to set up business accounts with H&F hotels to avoid 

the need to issue more corporate credit cards. 

 

Action taken 

 

 An additional corporate credit card has been issued to a third Housing 

Director to spot-purchase emergency accommodation and other essentials in 

the event families and individuals are displaced by an incident in H&F. 

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 H&F Council should agree a lettings policy that assures that any social 

housing tenant who is displaced by an incident of this scale will retain their 

rights to permanent rehousing in the borough, irrespective of any acceptance 

of an offer of temporary accommodation from another borough. 

 

 Cross-borough agreements should be laid down to ensure that tenants’ rights 

to permanent accommodation in their borough of origin are not adversely 

affected by the allocation of temporary accommodation in another borough 

where this is due to an emergency incident causing displacement from the 

home borough. 

 

 A data-sharing protocol should be drawn up to ensure that information on the 

needs of displaced residents from one borough can be shared with a 

neighbouring borough that is temporarily accommodating those families and 

individuals. 

 

 Further attempts should be made to secure business accounts with other 

hotels located in the borough. 

 

Page 52



19 
 

 Arrangements for corporate credit cards and their distribution within services 

should be considered within emergency plans.  

 

Assurance for H&F residents 

 

5.7 The new Chief Executive at H&F had initiated a review of the borough’s fire 

safety regime upon appointment in March 2017, and was in the process of 

implementing more stringent fire safety checks prior to the Grenfell Tower fire.   

 

5.8 Following the Grenfell fire, it was important to reassure H&F tenants and 

residents about their safety in tower blocks located within the borough.  

Understandably, Grenfell triggered discussions with tenants and residents on 

fire safety, especially at the Edward Woods Estate and at the Charecroft 

Estate.  However, communication with residents in the days that followed 

Grenfell quickly provided reassurance that there were no H&F tower blocks 

with the same cladding as at Grenfell.   

 

5.9 Urgent fire safety checks were carried out at Edward Woods, Charecroft and 

other tower blocks, with Fire Safety Advisers drafted in to visit all tower blocks.  

The Council also established the H&F Fire Safety Plus programme (see 

Appendix 4) to install sprinklers in all blocks where it would improve safety, 

replace fire doors and offer free safety checks and free replacement of faulty 

appliances. A Full Council meeting agreed to allocate £20m to this ‘Fire Safety 

Plus’ programme. 5  

 

Action taken 

 

 Fire safety checks have been completed on all 71 H&F high-rise tower blocks 

(a tower block is a communal residential building with more than 6 storeys) 

and all blocks of five or less storeys 

 

 Fire Safety Plus handbooks have been issued to H&F council residents, 

setting out the H&F offer of free safety checks for all homes and free 

replacement appliances and plug adaptors. 

 

 Concierge staff have been increased at the Edward Woods Estate and are 

now located in all three tower blocks of the estate. 

 

 Specifications for works to install sprinklers in all high-rise blocks, where this 

would improve safety, are being drawn up. 

 

                                                           
5
 See Appendix 4 

Page 53



20 
 

 A residents’ advisory group on fire safety is being set up to work with the 

Council on improvement plans. 

 

 A Property Compliance Task Force, chaired by the Chief Executive, has been 

set up to ensure that H&F Council is meeting its full responsibilities as a 

landlord. 

 

 The housing repairs emergency response service has been reviewed and 

enhanced and a new emergency response policy put in place.   

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 The Council should set out in advance the range of outreach support and 
services that could be available to families and individuals placed in 
temporary accommodation in and outside of the borough as a result of a 
major incident 
 

 Clear lists and contact details for all residents placed in temporary 
accommodation following an evacuation should be available and updated as 
necessary to key staff. 
 

 

6. Welfare 

 

6.1 Emergency welfare and support for those affected by major incidents is a 

critical element of any emergency response.  Support arrangements need to 

ensure that social care, health care and other support services continue to be 

provided for those with previously identified needs, and also respond to the 

additional impact of the incident, or possible evacuation.   Welfare 

arrangements should also be sympathetic to the cultural needs of local 

residents, and recognise the diverse nature of the local population.   

 

6.2 For example, some residents evacuated following the Grenfell fire and placed 

in H&F Hotels were observing Ramadan, and their experience was that this 

could not easily be accommodated by the hotel catering service.  Some 

residents were accommodated in hotels offering a bed and breakfast service 

with no other access to catering or food preparation.  The H&F Outreach 

Taskforce arranged food delivery services and meal vouchers, with supportive 

assistance from a number of local restaurants and caterers.  A pre-arranged 

protocol with local hoteliers to commission a specific catering response during 

emergencies or to sign up local restaurants willing to assist with providing 

meals to those affected may be helpful in future incidents.  A food and meal 

voucher system might be agreed in advance with supermarkets and 

restaurants in the borough. 

Page 54



21 
 

 

6.3 Some of those affected in both incidents had pre-existing health or social care 

needs, which required additional services to be available in both emergency 

centres and emergency accommodation (e.g. access to medication, social 

care support).   

 

6.4 The impact of incidents such as the Grenfell fire and the Parsons Green 

incident may result in ongoing needs which are likely to continue beyond the 

immediate event, or may only be identified after a period of time.  This may 

include trauma and post traumatic stress.  Moving forward, specific training for 

staff to provide appropriate responses and ongoing access to psychological 

support for traumatised residents should be considered within emergency 

plans.  

 

6.5 Support for children and young people with additional needs, such as those 

with learning disabilities, or families receiving social care support also needs 

to be addressed in emergency plans.  As part of the emergency response to 

the Grenfell fire, children in the affected area who were already receiving 

social care support were immediately identified by Children’s services.       

 

6.6 At Parsons Green, the NHS was not able to respond to requests to obtain 

medication for people in the rest centre.  Independently, a local pharmacist 

assisted the Rest Centre officers in liaising between residents and a local GP 

practice to provide medication for those that required it. 

 

6.7 H&F provides an employee assistance programme throughout the year.  The 

offer is enhanced for employees affected by a major incident to include 

telephone counselling and specific face-to-face support.  In the immediate 

aftermath of Grenfell, the Council further enhanced the offer with on-site 

counselling sessions in the six weeks following the incident.  In addition, 

regular communications about longer-term support available has been 

established, recognising some effects may be delayed.  During the Parsons 

Green incident a similar response was provided although, given the relatively 

lower numbers of employees affected, the role of the line managers in 

establishing contact and support requirements was most beneficial. 

 

Actions taken 

 

 An enhanced counselling service has been put in place for H&F staff. 

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 A process should be established to negotiate agreements with supermarkets 

and restaurants to provide food and meals to the victims and evacuees of 

Page 55



22 
 

future incidents, perhaps by way of a voucher scheme administered by the 

Council or local charities. 

 

 The offer of counselling to all staff involved in the Grenfell fire relief effort 

should be followed up over the coming weeks and months. 

 

 Service commissioners with responsibility for mental health services should 

consider how access to counselling services for non-council staff who 

volunteer to be emergency responders could be made available, particularly 

where the Council funds counselling services in the community. 

 

 Service commissioners with responsibility for mental health services should 

work with NHS partners to develop local plans to provide specialist support for 

trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder. 

 

 Work should be undertaken with local NHS services to develop future plans to 

ensure that access to medication can be quickly provided to those affected by 

emergencies, such as those in rest centres or emergency accommodation.   

 

 The Council should investigate whether 24-hour pharmacies can provide 

support in an incident where people require prescriptions in a rest centre.  

 

 

7. Donations Management 

 

7.1 On the evening following the Grenfell fire, Clem Attlee and Rocque Maton 

TRA and residents brought donations to Hammersmith Town Hall, then further 

donations began arriving spontaneously from 7pm and continued arriving over 

the following days.  On the day after the fire, there was a call for volunteers to 

assist with the co-ordination of the influx of donations, which brought 450 

offers of help from council staff and the wider community.  Donations were 

also being delivered to, and collected at, various other community sites across 

the borough, which were then diverted to the Town Hall. 

 

7.2 Some of the donations included perishable goods, which were stored whilst 

an assessment was made of the needs of evacuees of the fire.  The majority 

of the perishable goods was provided to the local foodbank for distribution.  

Non-perishable donations were stored by H&F.  Some of the donations were 

directly distributed to evacuee families in local hotels, including toiletries.  

Once the Red Cross became involved as part of the government task force, 

they coordinated donations for Grenfell from all areas.  Consequently, the 

remaining donations stored by H&F were provided to the Red Cross for 

storage and distribution.   

Page 56



23 
 

 

7.3 At the time of the Grenfell fire, H&F did not have a plan for the management of 

donations and volunteers as part of its emergency response plan and had to 

move quickly to put ad hoc arrangements in place.  Key officers were taken off 

their day jobs and asked to develop a donations receiving centre.  This quickly 

became full with thousands of donated items sorted, stacked, boxed and 

labelled by over 100 volunteers (both staff and residents).  Officers leading on 

donations management for Grenfell had no experience of this work nor the 

scale of the operation and much can be learned from their direct experience 

and considerable fortitude over the initial 3 days at the height of donations.   

 

7.4 Officers coordinating the donations stated that they would have benefitted 

from more internal communications and quicker updates.  It might have been 

helpful to have had a visible screen constantly updating everyone and 

displaying important information across the locations where donations were 

being handled.   

 

7.5 Moving forward, H&F emergency plans should be developed to anticipate 

large scale donations and work with community partners to coordinate activity 

to effectively manage this.  A donations protocol should be developed to 

communicate guidance on donations management including how to separate 

new and used items, the importance of signage advising that donations can 

not be returned and the importance of logging items so that once boxed they 

could be more easily located.  

 

7.5 The donation management plan needs to identify suitable storage sites (both 

temporary and longer term) to receive and process donations in different parts 

of the borough and local businesses identified that that can provide storage 

boxes.  Volunteers brought in to manage the donations need to be 

appropriately briefed and supported to undertake the task. 

 

Recommendation for action 

 

 A donation management protocol should be drawn up and agreed by the 

council in discussion with community partners to help manage all aspects of 

donation management.  The plan should form part of the Council’s emergency 

management plan procedures.  It should include a communications plan to 

ensure that, in the event of a future major incident, donors are well informed 

about the type of donations needed and where donations should be taken.  

The protocol should guide organisers on how to stack, store and allocate 

donations and engage volunteers and clarify to donors what will happen to 

their gift once received. 

 

Page 57



24 
 

 Specific council staff should be nominated to be ‘Donations Managers’ in the 

event of any future incidents and briefed accordingly. 

 

 

8. Training 

 

8.1 H&F emergency responders report that the training they receive is excellent.  

To ensure there are sufficient numbers of staff trained to cope in the 

immediate period following an incident of the scale and duration of the 

Grenfell Tower disaster, additional training has been provided or is planned 

for roles within H&F’s Emergency Response Structure (see 4.1).  As of 5th 

January 2018, there are 105 H&F officers trained in emergency response 

roles.  This number has increased since Grenfell, with additional officers 

trained as Council Silver, Welfare Bronze and Housing Emergency Response 

Officers.  Further training is planned in January 2018, to form a new team of 

nine officers as BECC responders.  Training will continue to be provided and 

updated across the emergency planning roles.   

 

8.2 Staff across some shared services responding to the major incidents had 

inconsistent understanding of H&F specific emergency plans and procedures.  

There needs to be better awareness of H&F’s emergency management plan 

across all service areas that may need to respond to an emergency incident 

and training offered if required.  Crisis management training should be 

delivered to all directors and all councillors on a prioritised basis. 

 

8.3 It is also proposed that training is needed for responders from the community 

as well as council staff.  The community response to the relief effort for both 

major incidents was widely praised but most of those volunteers had little or 

no training. 

 

Action taken 

 

 Training provided to increase number of council officers in key roles in the 

emergency response structure.  

 

 Strategic Leadership Team emergency planning training and briefing session 

held in December 2017.  

 

Action to be taken 

 

 Further emergency responders training to be provided to more staff. 

 

Page 58



25 
 

 Wider staff awareness training or guidance to be provided on H&Fs 

emergency management plan and procedures. 

 

 There will be at least eight trained officers to cover each of the key roles of 

Duty Silver (currently 8 trained officers), Welfare Bronze (currently 7 trained 

officers) and Rest Centre Manager (currently 7 trained officers). 

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 Training on emergency response to be provided to community responders, 

TRAs and residents.  

 

 Crisis management training should be provided for directors, cabinet 

members, shadow cabinet members and ward councillors, on a prioritised 

basis.  

 

 Media training should be provided for councillors.  

 

 

9. Work with Communities, Local Agencies and Businesses 

 

9.1 The public response to the Grenfell fire was tremendous in demonstrating the 

widespread compassion that people feel for victims of a disaster of such 

magnitude.  This compassion and drive to help resulted in a large number of 

volunteers, faith groups and local community organisations, residents and 

businesses all getting involved.   

 

9.2 The strength of the community response in H&F to both major incidents 

provides an opportunity to consider how the volunteering offer can be better 

coordinated and harnessed and the array of skills that are available across the 

borough identified.  There needs to be work done to build community 

resilience as part of an emergency response.  This was considered as part of 

the ‘Stronger Together: Building Community Resilience’ hackathon event in 

September 2017.  Future ideas for consideration include developing an 

emergency responder/volunteering database, identifying community go-

betweens and undertaking more outreach and community development work. 

 

9.3 Where there are to be significant numbers of displaced individuals located in a 

specific area, then a plan of action is required to inform and reassure the local 

community in which those individuals are going to be placed.  This was 

required in the area around the location of a temporary school that had to be 

established on Wormwood Scrubs to relocate the pupils of Aldridge School, 

which had to be closed because of the Grenfell fire.  It was rightly felt that it 

Page 59



26 
 

was important to keep the Aldridge School pupils together.  Some local 

residents expressed concern at the potential impact on the community of a 

large number of school pupils being relocated to their area.  

 

Action taken 

 

 A hackathon event, ‘Stronger Together: Building Community Resilience’, has 

been held with representatives of local businesses, local agencies and 

community groups.  (A hackathon is an event with focussed sessions that 

brings stakeholders together to discuss complex problems and come up with 

possible solutions.) 

 

Recommendations for action 

 

 The proposals that came forward from the hackathon should be progressed – 

building up contact lists with details of possible roles and offers of available 

support from local organisations and businesses. 

 

 Taining should be provided for community outreach responders. 

 

 A database of volunteers should be considered. 

 

 Where displaced individuals are to be relocated in new communities, advance 

information and reassurance should be given to those within the host 

community. 

 

 Service level agreements with funded organisations should be amended to 

allocate duties and responsibilities for assisting in an emergency situation.   

 

 

10. Regional and National Implications 

 

11.1 There are lessons to be learned from the Grenfell Tower fire and the response 

to it for national Government, the LGA and regional government, as well as for 

local authorities.  New guidelines are likely to be required, and are anticipated 

following the conclusions of the Public Inquiry and other reviews.  This report 

has urged for new thinking and learning on ‘bystander management’ – namely 

the role and responsibilities of neighbouring authorities where an incident is 

close to an administrative boundary.  

 

11.2 It is disappointing that central government has not made additional funding 

available to carry out the essential refurbishments and safety measures that 

have been identified as being needed.  H&F has developed its own Fire 

Page 60



27 
 

Safety Plus programme, utilising only council resources, in response to our 

review of fire safety across the borough.  

 

11.3 DCLG has written to all councils with a request to actively ensure owners of 

private residential tower blocks are taking measures to ensure their residents 

are safe.  The request of councils is to identify any private residential tower 

blocks that have ACM or similar cladding and to ensure adequate mitigation is 

in place.  The Environmental Health/Corporate Health & Safety team is 

leading this work for H&F which is ongoing at the time of writing.  

 

11.4 H&F Council was asked to submit a response to the consultation on the terms 

of reference of the Grenfell Tower Inquiry and proposed that the following 

questions need to be answered: 

 

 Training and resources 

 Were enough officers trained in emergency response roles and tactics to 
be able to respond to an incident of this type and scale?  

 
Decision making 

 What was the decision-making process and who made those decisions and 
were the Gold arrangements adequate?  

 
Wider implications 

 Are the current arrangements adequate to respond to an incident of this 
scale?  

 Should LLAG and LLACC have stepped up response, in any event, without 
being asked?  

 There are no mutual aid agreements between London and the surrounding 
counties or other parts of the UK, other than those arranged locally.  Does 
this need looking at, in light of the Grenfell tragedy?  

 

Pastoral and other support provided 

 Can the current mutual aid arrangements be re-visited for longer term 
recovery incidents?  

 What improvements could be made on data/information sharing between 
agencies relating to affected families and individuals?  

 

Donations management 

 What additional training, resources and planning is needed to manage 
donations in major incidents?  

 How can emergency response agencies work together with the voluntary 
and community sector and businesses to manage donations effectively?  

 

Building fire safety management 

 Are the current regulations and guidance for fire safety management in 
social housing and other types of residential property fit for purpose? Would 

Page 61



28 
 

safety be enhanced by adopting an Approved Code of Practice for fire 
safety management for landlords?  

 How effective are sprinklers compared with other measures as part of fire 
safety management?  Should sprinklers be mandated for all properties over 
a certain number of storeys?  Should a common prescribed standard be set 
to minimise ongoing maintenance liabilities?  

 How can the practical challenges of managing the fire safety of high-rise 
buildings with a mixture of leasehold and tenanted properties be 
overcome?  

 Is a national regulatory body needed for fire risk assessment, similar to that 
in place for the gas safety industry?  

 

Recommendations for action 

 

 An ask that new guidance is produced by national government, the LGA and 

London Councils on key areas of learning from the Grenfell fire. 

 

 It is noted that an independent peer challenge of London’s regional resilience 

procedures has been commissioned by London Councils, on behalf of London 

local government.  

 

 

Page 62



 

29 
 

Appendix 1 

Map of Grenfell Tower Local Area           Location of Grenfell Tower 

Shepherds Bush and North Kensington 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 63



 

30 
 

Map of Parsons Green local area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 64



31 
 

Appendix 2 

 
EMERGENCY PLANNING REQUIREMENTS 
 
Our emergency planning should aim, where possible, to prevent emergencies 
occurring, and when they do occur good planning should reduce, control or 
mitigate the effects of the emergency. It is a systematic and ongoing process 
which should evolve as lessons are learnt and circumstances change.  
 
Organisations should aim to maintain plans which cover 3 different areas: 
 

 Plans for preventing an emergency 
 
In some circumstances there will be a short period before an emergency occurs 
when it might be avoided by prompt or decisive action 
 

 Plans for reducing, controlling, or mitigating the effects of an 
emergency 

 
The main bulk of planning should consider how to minimise the effects of an 
emergency, starting with the impact of the event and looking at remedial actions 
that can be taken to reduce effects. The evacuation of people may be a direct 
intervention which can mitigate the effects of some emergencies. Recovery plans 
should also be developed to reduce the effects of the emergency and ensure long 
term recovery.  
 

 Plans for taking other action in connection with an emergency 
 
Emergency planning should also look beyond the immediate response and long-
term recovery issues and look also at secondary impacts. For example, the wave 
of reaction to an emergency can be quite overwhelming in terms of media 
attention and public response. Plans may need to consider how to handle this 
increased interest. 
 
Emergency plans should include procedures when to activate the plan in 
response to an emergency. This should include identifying an appropriately 
trained person who will take the decision, in consultation with others, on when an 
emergency has occurred. 
 
Exercising plans and training staff 
 
Organisations should test the effectiveness of their emergency plans by carrying 
out exercises, and should ensure that those involved in the planning for or 
response to an emergency receive appropriate training.  
 
Organisations should also ensure their plans give due consideration to the 
welfare of their own personnel. 

 
  

Page 65



 

32 
 

Voluntary sector 
 
Where appropriate, organisations should consider whether voluntary 
organisations may have capabilities which could assist in responding to an 
emergency. 
 
The voluntary sector can provide a wide range of skills and services in 
responding to an emergency. These can include: practical support (such as first 
aid, transportation, or provisions for responders); psycho-social support such as 
counselling and helplines; equipment; and information services. 
 

  

Page 66



 

33 
 

Appendix 3 

Service Resilience Group: 

Chief Executive 

Lead Director of Regeneration, Planning and Housing Services 

Lead Director Environmental Services (Director for Environmental Health) 

Director of Housing Options 

Director of Delivery and Value 

Director of Adult Social Care 

Director of Childrens Services 

Director for Property Services 

Director for Finance and Resources 

Head of Emergency Services 

Strategic Head of Communications 

Head of Environmental Health (Residential) 

Strategic Head of Development, Regeneration and Economic Growth 

 

 

 

Page 67



A residents’ guide to fire safety 1f

WE’RE 
WORKING
TO KEEP 
YOU SAFE

Page 68



A residents’ guide to fire safety2

The fire in Kensington has made one thing clear –  
just meeting minimum fire standards is not enough. 
The regulations are clearly not good enough. So we’ve 
put together this H&F Fire Safety Plus programme, and 
we’re going above and beyond what is required.

We want our residents to know that we care deeply 
about your safety, we understand your concerns, and 
we will do everything it takes to keep you safe.

All councils need to do more to make sure tenants’ and leaseholders’ 
homes are safe. We’ve got work to do here – that’s why we’ve developed 
this H&F Fire Safety Plus programme, to make sure our properties meet 
higher standards. And we’ve set aside £20million to pay for it.

Tenants and leaseholders have been working with us to shape our Fire 
Safety Plus package. We’ve been visiting estates and hearing residents’ 
concerns and suggestions for improving fire safety – and we’re acting on 
that with a massive programme of works.

 

Cllr Stephen Cowan 
Leader of Hammersmith & Fulham Council

WE’RE WORKING HARD TO 
KEEP YOU SAFE

Page 69



A residents’ guide to fire safety 3

OUR FIRE SAFETY PLUS 
PROGRAMME

Our Fire Safety Plus programme is about doing more than the minimum 
requirement to keep you safe. We’ve set aside the money to fund a major 
package of testing, building works and free equipment for our residents 
that live in council owned accommodation.

1  Replacement concierges
We are bringing back concierge staff to Edward Woods and Charecroft 
estates and looking to do the same at other estates where concierge staff 
have been removed in the past.

2  Sprinklers in tower blocks
We are working on a plan which is being discussed with the London Fire 
Brigade about the feasibility of fitting sprinklers in tower blocks. As we 
progress we’ll be in touch with more details.

3  Better fire assessments
Independent experts are reviewing safety in all communal blocks. Current 
standards don’t require assessments to check the outside of the building 
(cladding and external panels are not usually checked). Although we don’t 
have the Grenfell fire cladding, we’ve raised the standards in H&F and 
asked our expert fire reviewers to look at all external panelling. They will 
also do much more detailed and thorough assessments than in the past. 

Page 70



A residents’ guide to fire safety4

4  Free safety checks for every home
We are offering every resident an individual safety check visit, with priority 
for people in high-rise homes (six storeys or more). Depending on what 
your property needs, this could mean follow up visits to carry out a 
portable appliance test (PAT), if you want one and to remove and replace 
any appliance that fails. We aim to do this within 48 hours.

• New fire doors – We will work on checking the entire block you live in 
and organise a programme of works to ensure the block is safe. We will 
write with more details and updates.

• Free replacement appliances – If one or more of your appliances 
fails a PAT we will cut the plug off immediately and remove the failed 
appliance and replace it with a good quality, brand new one – for free. 
We aim to do this within 48 hours.

 The fire in Shepherds Court last year was started by a faulty Hotpoint 
tumble dryer. If you haven’t yet checked whether your appliances are 
on the Hotpoint, Creda or Indesit recall list, please do so and book your 
upgrade with them. Check whether your tumble dryer is affected at: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/checkyourappliance

• Free heat detectors – During our visit, we’ll also install free heat 
detectors and check any detectors or alarms you already have to make 
sure they’re working properly.

Book now

To book your Fire Safety Plus visit, please call the customer services centre 
on 0800 023 4499 or email: firesafetyplus@mitie.com

Page 71



A residents’ guide to fire safety 5

FIRE SAFETY PLUS

If you are 
presently using  
an adaptor  
which looks  
like this:

Then we will 
happily swap it 
for an extension 
lead which 
looks like this:

5  Free plug adaptors
The London Fire Brigade advise residents not to use cube-style plug 
adaptor/extensions. They say linear adaptors with circuit breakers built in 
are safer. 

You can exchange your cube-style plug adaptors for FREE for a safer type 
of extension lead. All you need to do is bring your cube-style plug adaptors 
down to your local housing office and we will give you new linear adaptors 
for every cube you exchange. If you want more details on how to avoid 
fires caused by electrical equipment please visit:  
www.london-fire.gov.uk/ElectricalEquipment.asp

 

Page 72



A residents’ guide to fire safety6

BLOCKS WITH CLADDING
We have no council blocks in H&F that have cladding like that used on 
Grenfell Tower.

We have only three blocks that have cladding – all at the Edward Woods 
estate. We have had both the materials used and the installation tested  
by independent experts BRE, and the Edward Woods estate has passed 
these tests.

There are a few housing association blocks in the borough that have failed 
the cladding tests. None of these are council properties, and the housing 
associations that own them have notified their tenants and are working to 
make them safe.

EXTERNAL PANELS
The fire at Shepherds Court in Shepherds Bush on 19 August 2016 was 
caused by a faulty tumble dryer igniting. There was no loss of life or serious 
injury and initial fire reports showed the fire was well-contained. However, 
the fire brigade subsequently raised concerns about external panels below 
lounge windows. 

We commissioned one of the leading firms in the field to carry out 
additional testing and assessment of these window panels.

We will be removing and replacing the window panels at Charecroft estate 
and we have round-the-clock fire patrols in all the Charecroft blocks to 
keep people safe while this work is being done.

We have commissioned a review of all our other communal blocks to 
check if these panels are used elsewhere, to check their safety, and, if 
necessary, to replace these too.

Page 73



A residents’ guide to fire safety 7

One of the main lessons from the Grenfell fire is that councils should do 
more to listen to residents and act on their concerns. Here’s what we’ve 
been doing to make sure residents’ voices are heard:

 Fire safety officers have been 
visiting all our estates to talk 
to residents, and to check fire 
safety arrangements.

 We are setting up a residents’ 
advisory group on fire safety, 
to work with us on our 
improvement plans.

 We have held advice and 
listening sessions at the Edward 
Woods and Charecroft estates 
in Shepherds Bush – some of 
our tallest tower blocks where 
there have been concerns about 
cladding and window panels. 

 We’ve written to all residents in 
high-rise blocks in H&F to offer 
advice and reassurance where 
we can. We’ve also written 
separately to residents of Edward 
Woods and Charecroft estates 
about their specific concerns.

 We’ve met representatives from 
our tenants’ and residents’ 
associations to hear their views 
on actions we need to take, and 
will continue to work closely 
with local people.

LISTENING TO RESIDENTS

Page 74



A residents’ guide to fire safety8

PLEASE HELP  
KEEP YOUR HOME SAFE

There are some simple ways you can help keep your home and family safe. 
The following requests are based on fire brigade advice.

 Please keep communal areas and 
hallways clear of obstructions, 
such as furniture, bikes and 
boxes. It could save lives.

 Please don’t smoke in bed or 
leave candles unattended.

 Please talk to your family about 
your fire plan – and make sure 
everyone knows what they 
should do, including children. 
Each block has its own fire 
safety procedures, but you can 
also find general advice from the 
London Fire Brigade at  
www.london-fire.gov.uk

 Please talk to your neighbours 
and help them with their fire 
plans if they need it, especially 
older people living alone or 
people who have recently 
moved to the area.

 Please don’t remove or alter the 
external fire door to your flat. 
These are crucial to stopping the 
spread of fire in any block and 
give you the protection you need 
to stay safe until the fire brigade 
is able to put out any fire. 

 We really need you to help us by 
allowing us access for fire and 
safety inspections so we can test 
equipment and fire doors. 

 Please check if any of your white 
goods have been recalled by 
the manufacturer by using the 
link below. The manufacturer 
will replace appliances that have 
been recalled. https://www.
electricalsafetyfirst.org.uk/
product-recalls/ 

Page 75



A residents’ guide to fire safety 9

Fire safety in all buildings also depends on good maintenance and 
housekeeping.

Here are some things to keep an eye on.

 All front doors of flats and doors 
on corridors and staircases must 
be ‘self-closing’ fire doors.

 Fire doors must ‘self-close’ 
properly, and not be held or 
wedged open. They are designed 
to stop the spread of fire.

 Things shouldn’t be stored in 
corridors or staircases. This can 
block escape routes and stop 
firefighters doing their job. They 
can also feed the fire.

 Keep any storage on individual 
balconies to a minimum and do 
not use a BBQ on your balcony

 There should be signs that show 
you how to escape a fire.

If you’re concerned about any of these things, please contact your local 
housing office for more details.

 
North Area Office   South Area Office

New Zealand Way   Clem Atlee estate 
White City estate   Lillie Road 
London W12 7DE   London SW6 7RX

Tel: 020 8753 4808   Tel: 020 8753 4327 
Email:      Email: 
hammersmithnorth@lbhf.gov.uk fulhamnorth@lbhf.gov.uk

WHAT TO LOOK FOR IN  
YOUR BUILDING

Page 76



A residents’ guide to fire safety10

Below is the current advice from the fire brigade and their guidance 
remains the same after the Grenfell fire.

If your home is affected by fire or 
smoke and your escape route is 
clear:

 Get everyone out, close all 
windows and doors and walk 
calmly out of the building.

 Do not use the lift.

 Call 999, give your address, the 
number of your flat and state 
which floor the fire is on.

If there is a fire or smoke inside 
your home, but your escape 
route is NOT clear:

 It may still be safer to stay in 
your flat until the fire brigade 
arrives.

 Find a safe room, close the door 
and use soft materials to block 
any gaps to stop the smoke.

 Go to a window, shout  
“HELP, FIRE” and call 999.

 Be ready to describe where you 
are and the quickest way to 
reach you.

If there is a fire in another part of 
the building:

 You are usually safer staying put 
and calling 999. Purpose-built 
blocks of flats are built to give 
you some protection from fire. 
Walls, floors and doors can hold 
back flames and smoke for 30 
to 60 minutes.

 Tell the fire brigade where you are 
and the best way to reach you. 

 If you are in the common parts of 
the building, leave and call 999.

 Follow the fire safety instructions 
in your block.

SHOULD I STAY PUT?

Page 77



A residents’ guide to fire safety 11

The London Fire Brigade’s guidance is to ‘Stay Put’ unless your flat is 
affected by fire or smoke.

This is because:

 Blocks of flats are usually built 
to prevent the spread of fire – 
‘compartmentalisation’ includes 
fire breaks between flats and 
between floors.  

 By leaving your flat, you may 
walk into smoke or fire in 
communal areas.

 Opening your fire door may allow 
the fire into your home and help 
spread smoke and flames.

 Staying put will also allow 
firefighters to tackle the fire 
safely and quickly without being 
delayed by many residents 
evacuating down the stairways.

 During the Shepherds Court fire 
in 2016, residents were advised 
to follow the standard fire 
brigade advice for tower blocks 
and to stay in their homes. Many 
families remained in the upper 
floors until the fire was brought 
under control. This action kept 
residents safe.

 This ‘stay put’ advice, together 
with the swift response to the 
fire and the building’s good-
quality fire-retardant systems, 
led to the initial fire report 
concluding there had been ‘no 
rapid fire growth’, and shows 
these combined measures can, 
and do, work successfully.

WHY IS IT USUALLY SAFER TO 
STAY PUT?

Page 78



A residents’ guide to fire safety12

©
 B

y:
de

si
gn

 0
20

 8
75

3 
17

64
 - 

Ju
ly

 2
01

7 
  R

ef
: 2

84
_2

cc
   

Pr
in

te
d 

by
 H

am
m

er
pr

in
t 0

20
 8

75
3 

22
35

English
Information from this document can be made available in alternative 
formats and in different languages. If you require further assistance 
please use the contact details below.

Arabic

 
 
Farsi

 
 
French
Les informations présentées dans ce document peuvent vous être 
fournies dans d’autres formats et d’autres langues. Si vous avez besoin 
d’une aide complémentaire, veuillez utiliser les coordonnées ci-dessous.

Portuguese
A informação presente neste documento pode ser disponibilizada 
em formatos alternativos e em línguas diferentes. Se desejar mais 
assistência, use por favor os contactos fornecidos abaixo.

Somali
Macluumaadka dokumentigan waxaa lagu heli karaa qaabab kale iyo 
luuqado kala duwan. Haddii aad u baahan tahay caawinaad intaas 
dhaafsiisan fadlan isticmaal xiriirka faahfaahinta hoose.

Spanish
La información en este documento puede facilitarse en formatos 
alternativos y en diferentes idiomas. Si necesita más ayuda por favor 
utilice la siguiente información de contacto.

Contact us:
www.lbhf.gov.uk/firesafetyplus-translate

Page 79



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
ENVIRONMENT, TRANSPORT AND RESIDENTS’ 

SERVICES 
 

29 January 2018 
 

HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents’ 
Services - Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 

Key Decision: No 
 

Other services consulted: None 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:  
Mahmood Siddiqi, Director for Transport and Highways 
 

Report Author: Kevin Anderson 
Highways Planned Maintenance 
Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 73415245 
E-mail: kevin.anderson@rbkc.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This paper sets out the statutory duties and requirements that the Council is 

required to perform to ensure that’s its highway network is in a safe and 
reliable condition and the process of compiling a program of planned footway 
and carriageway maintenance works. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.1. The Committee is requested to review and comment on the contents of the 
report. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 

 
3.1. Introduction 
 

The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham considers its highway 
network to be the largest and most visible asset for which it is responsible. It 
is used daily by the majority of people and is fundamental to the economic, 
social and environmental wellbeing of our community. It helps to shape the 

Page 80

Agenda Item 7

mailto:kevin.anderson@rbkc.gov.uk


 
 

character and quality of the local area that it serves and makes an important 
contribution to wider council priorities, including regeneration, social inclusion, 
community safety, education and health. 
 
The performance of the highway network affects the lives of everyone who 
live in or visit our Borough. Being at the heart of London, the highway network 
and associated infrastructure is of local and national importance. The council 
has a statutory duty to ensure that its highway network is in a safe and 
reliable condition and is committed to complying with the applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements and adopting national standards and best practice. 
To do so the Council has put in place robust technical and management 
processes/systems to ensure that the highway infrastructure is managed 
efficiently, effectively and sustainably.   
 
The Council actively engages with key stakeholders, in particular its 
customers, in deciding the levels of service, asset performance, and customer 
satisfaction to be achieved. 

 

3.2. Network 
 

The transport infrastructure in LBHF is of local and national importance and in 
order to fulfil its potential, it is crucial that the highway network is adequately 
maintained. This includes not just carriageways and footways but also 
bridges, street lighting, street furniture and drainage assets. 
The following table provides a summary of the highway assets that the council 
owns and maintains. 
 
 

Asset Type Quantity 

Carriageway  223km 

Footway 358km / 920,439m2 

 

3.3. Code of Practice 
 
There is an increasing widespread recognition of the importance of highway 
maintenance, and the high value placed on it by users and the wider 
community. Inadequate maintenance only stores up even greater problems for 
the future. 
 
To ensure that the Council’s highway network is efficiently maintained it is 
applying asset management principles and techniques and has adopted the 
standards set out in the National Codes of Practise for Highways, Lighting and 
Bridges and Structures. This document provides guidance on the efficient and 
economic delivery of highway maintenance services and includes advice on 
all new and emerging issues and technical developments. 
The work needed to ensure effective maintenance can be split into three 
general headings: 
 

• Inspection 

Page 81



 
 

The regular inspection process gathers information in respect of defects and 
can record deterioration over time.  
 

• Routine and Reactive maintenance  

Routine maintenance comprises those items of work, such as cleaning of road 
gullies, street sweeping and the change and cleaning of lighting units. 
Reactive maintenance comprises those repairs that arise from time to time 
and are necessary to ensure that the public safety is maintained and other ad-
hoc maintenance work following damage by vandalism and/or vehicle 
damage. 
 

• Planned maintenance 

Planned maintenance is work that prolongs the life of the asset and/or 
maintains structural capacity. 

 
3.4. Planned Maintenance  

 
All assets deteriorate over time and any work aimed at maintaining the 
durability and prolonging the life of the asset is classed as planned 
maintenance and funded as Capital Expenditure. It is imperative to keep the 
Councils highways infrastructure assets in a safe and reliable condition 
through a programme of capital maintenance. Planned maintenance covers 
these activities resulting from condition surveys and/or where asset 
improvement is proposed.  
 
Each year the Council’s regular inspection programmes determine the current 
condition of the various highway assets (Carriageways and Footways) and 
identify the forward investment needed that will keep the highway network in a 
safe and reliable condition. The regular inspection process gathers 
information in respect of defects and can record deterioration over time. 
 
The overall purpose of an inspection regime is to check that the physical 
highway assets are safe for use and fit for purpose and to provide the data 
required to support the good management practices identified in the codes of 
practice. 
 
The Council’s inspection strategies are designed to  
 

• Provide data on the current condition and performance.  

• Inform analysis, assessments and process e.g. change in condition, 

cause of deterioration, rate of deterioration, maintenance requirements 

and structural capacity. 

• Compile, verify and maintain inventory data 

• Meet the other requirements of the guidance in the code of practise  

 
3.5. Annual Condition Surveys 
 

Page 82



 
 

For footways and carriageways, the planned maintenance programme is 
currently driven by the results of the Annual Condition Survey (ACS), a visual 
survey that confirms to national standards known as the United Kingdom 
Pavement Management System (UKPMS).  
 
These results are analysed and ranked according to maximum, minimum and 
average structural condition index scores. Works programmes are then 
developed based on the worst structural condition being the highest priority.  
 
The following condition surveys have been undertaken on behalf of the 
Council by The Highway Surveyors who are UKPMS accredited surveyors. 
 

• Full Carriageway DVI 

• Full Footway DVI 

 

3.6. Programme 
 

The current program is generated based on the results of the Annual 
Condition Survey, with the results ranked according to the worst structural 
condition index. 

 
A new ranking system is being developed for the 18/19 programme of works 
and takes into consideration a range of new factors including visual 
appearance, customer reports and maintenance history in addition to the ACS 
scores when deciding on how to spend the budget. 
 
A visual appearance survey has been carried out by experienced engineering 
professionals and these factors have been used to produce a priority list with 
the works programme developed based on the highest score being the 
highest priority. 
 

 
3.7. Budget 
 

Description Budget 17/18 

Carriageway Improvements £829,000 

Footway Improvements £1,051,000 

Principal Carriageway Improvements (TFL Funded) £356,000 

 
 
4. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

    

 
 

Page 83



Community Safety, Environment and Residents Services PAC Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 

 

7th March 2018 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Walking and Cycling – A regional perspective 
 

Will Norman – 
Mayor’s Walking 
and Cycling 
Commissioner 

To hear about the regional vision for improved 
walking and cycling provision. 

Walking and Cycling in Hammersmith and Fulham Richard Duffill / 
Ullash Karia / 
Chris Bainbridge 

To consider the Council’s work to promote walking 
and cycling and discuss what more could be done to 
promote sustainable travel. 

Victim Support Daniel Lawless – 
Victim Support / 
Zahra Beg / 
Councillor Sue 
Fennimore 

To consider the work of Victim Support and how it 
integrates with the Council’s support and advice 
services. 

 

18th April 2018 

Committee Room 1, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Engine Idling Elisabeth Fonseca To consider the Council’s work to prevent 
unnecessary pollution caused by engine idling. 

Parks Police  
 

Mike Rumble To hear about the work of the Parks Police Service 
and to consider their impact on the security of the 
borough’s parks. 

Electric Vehicle Charging  Richard Hearle To consider the progress programme to install 
Electric Vehicle Charging points across the borough.  

Next Door and Good Gym Geoff Cowart To hear about the Council’s work with Next Door and 
Good Gym to engage local residents in improving 
their communities. 

 

P
age 84

A
genda Item

 8


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 2018 Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Update
	Appendix 2 - Budget Risks 2018-19
	Appendix 3 - Fees and Charges Exceptions 2018-19
	Appendix 4 - EIA 2017-18

	5 Cycle Super Highway 9
	6 A Draft Consultative Report on H&F Council's Emergency Response To Major Incidents In June and September 2017
	Appendix 1 - A draft consultative report on H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major Incidents in June and September 2017
	Appendix 4

	7 Highway Maintenance
	8 Work Programme and Dates of Future Meetings

